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CORPORATE
PROFILE

Yamada Green Resources Limited and together with
its subsidiaries (“Yamada"”), is an agricultural food
product processing group based in Fujian Province,
the People’s Republic of China (“PRC").

Serving a long-established customer base from
Japan, Yamada has earned a strong reputation of
providing high quality products to food distributors
and wholesalers in Japan. Currently, Yamada's food
processing operations, which adheres to stringent
safety standards and requirements, are carried out at
its main factory where it employs over 200 workers.

Yamada has also made considerable investments into
office and logistics properties in PRC and Singapore,
following the disposal of its bamboo, eucalyptus and
parts of its mushroom plantations over the past few
years. Rental from these properties will become a new
source of income for the Group over the next few
years.
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OUR
PRODUCTS

Our agricultural food products are processed from various types of fresh vegetables and semi-processed food
products purchased from our suppliers. The products are mainly exported to Japan under our customers’ brand
names. A smaller portion of our products is distributed and sold to PRC customers through local supermarket
chains, distributor and convenience stores in major cities under our own brands like “"BERX B & ", "# R 5" and”

EEER"
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YAMADA

GROUP
STRUCTURE

Yamada Green Resources Limited

Yamada Green Resources Limited
(LWAZEZEARARD

(incorporated in Singapore on

8 February 2010)

100%

Fujian Wangsheng Industrial
Co., Ltd
(fREEERIWAHRARD
(incorporated in PRC on
14 April 1998)
Production and supplies of
processed food products.

100%

Nanping Yuanwang
Foods Co., Ltd.
(FEFEHTRERRERAFE)
(incorporated in PRC on 3
February 2005) Production and
supplies of semiprocessed
food products.

100%
Zhangping Fengwang
Agricultural Products Co., Ltd.
CEEHmFERER~RARLF)
(incorporated in PRC
on 7 October 2008)
Cultivation and supplies of

100%

Fuzhou Kangzhimei
Foods Co., Ltd.
(FBMERZERRERLAFD
(incorporated in PRC on
20 December 2012)
Sales of processed food

100%

Nanping Lijiashan
Forestry Co., Ltd.
(FIFEHER LKL AFRAF)
(incorporated in PRC on 23 April
2013) Forestry management,
cultivation and sales of edible

edible fungi. products. fungi and vegetables.
100% 100% 100%
Zhangping Senwang Feng Zhi Qiu Sanming Shansheng

Forestry Co., Ltd.
CEEHAREMLFIRAT)
(incorporated in PRC on
1 June 2011)
Engaging in forestry
management.

International Holding
Company Limited
CEZ REPRMZRBRAED
(Incorporated in Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region, PRC on 22
January 2014) Sales of processed
food products.

Forestry Co., Ltd.
(ZRALL BRI B IR A ED)
(incorporated in PRC on
22 July 2014) Forestry
management, cultivation and sales
of edible fungi and vegetables.

33.8962%

Fujian Tianwang Foods Co., Ltd *
(BEEXRERRERAFED
(incorporated in PRC on 5 Nov
2004) Production and supplies of
processed food products, cultivation
and sales of vegetables, and forestry
management.

*

Fujian Tianwang Foods Co., Ltd has a wholly owned subsidiary
named Sanming Sennong Forestry Co., Ltd.
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CEO’'S
STATEMENT

CHEN QIUHAI

Chief Executive Officer and
Executive Director

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”)
of Yamada Green Resources Limited (“Yamada” or
the “Group”), | present Yamada'’s set of results for
the financial year ended 30 June 2020 (“FY2020").

Year in Review

It has been an unprecedented year of challenges
as the world was struck by the Novel Coronavirus
("COVID-19") pandemic that has curtailed
businesses, economies and the daily lives of people
globally. Our operations were also affected with a
temporary closure during the peak of the outbreak
in China. Fortunately, work has since resumed as
the country progressively moved out of lockdown.

The COVID-19 outbreak aggravated an already
volatile global economy due to the on-going
trade war between the US and China. For the year
under review, the Group navigated through these
disruptions to deliver improved results across its
business segments.

YAMADA GREEN RESOURCES LIMITED
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Total revenue for the year grew by 23.2% to
RMB75.6 million, a RMB14.2 million increase from
the RMB61.4 million recorded for FY2019. We saw
stronger demand from both domestic and overseas
customers. On the domestic front, the Group saw
higher sales volume and average selling prices of
its processed bamboo shoots, processed mushroom
and konjac jelly. Meanwhile overseas customers
drove revenue growth through higher demand for
processed mushroom and bamboo shoots. We
were also able to negotiate with our Japanese
customers for a favourable adjustment in selling
prices.

For our investment properties, revenue edged up
by RMBO0.2 million for a total of RMB5.3 million as
we were able to rent out more space for the year
under review.

As a result of the across the board improvement,
the Group was able to recorded a turnaround year
with a gross profit of RMB12.7 million for FY2020
as compared to the gross loss of RMB9.7 million
in FY2019. Our gross profit margin also improved
from a gross loss margin to 16.8% for the year
under review.



Outlook and Strategy

In tandem with our efforts to improve the numbers,
we made key changes refine our operations
and group structure. These are milestones
developments that bring us closer to being able
to be a leading player in the industry and deliver
sustainable value to our stakeholders.

In FY2019, we had proposed the sale of our stake
in Fujian Tianwang Foods Co., Ltd (“Tianwang")
which was previously acquired to synergise with our
business. However, with its continuous loss-making
position, we decided to realign our resources by
divesting of our shares. To date, the proposal has
been approved and we have divested 11.1038
% of the equity interest in the registered capital
of Tianwang for a total of RMB9.85 million. The
amount is part of an agreement which will see a
total payment of RMB39.9 million made over the
next three to four years and better position us to
better focus on value-accretive initiatives.

As we look forward to the next financial year,
the COVID-19 pandemic stands out as the most
pressing challenge. At present the virus outbreak
appears to be under control in China. However, a
second outbreak in China and Japan would have
significant impact on our business. The pandemic's
disruptions to economic activities in the PRC and
the region has led us to moderate projections of
our growth momentum in the near future. Should
the situation remain unstable or worsen, our
financial performance for FY2021 may be affected.

While we aspire to deliver better numbers in the
forthcoming year, we also prioritise the health and
safety of our staff. We will continue to stringently
observe and uphold safe distancing and personal
hygiene measures dictated by the governments
and do our part in curbing the spread of the virus.
We have also formulated plans to ensure product
safety, stable production and smooth sales to
ensure business continuity should the situation
become more challenging in future.

In addition to these new measures, we will continue
to build rapport business relationships with major
customers, focus on high value-added processed
food products and proactively exploring avenues

CEO’S
STATEMENT

to acquire new customers to maintain the overall
profitability. Meanwhile, we will actively promote
our investment properties for lease. The Company,
with the guidance of the company’s professional
team have continuously and constantly been
engaging SGX to work towards the lifting of the
suspension and the resumption of trading. During
the financial year, Messrs Crowe Horwath First Trust
Risk Advisory Pte. Ltd. was appointed to perform
an annual internal audit and to conduct the internal
control review to improve the internal control
system of the company. The Management believes
in building a stronger foundation and creating a
sustainable growth for the Group.

Acknowledgements

The Group has made notable progress for the
year under review but found itself facing a more
challenging and volatile environment. Despite the
external setting, we are confident that we have
the assets, capabilities and most importantly,
people and support to forge ahead. On behalf of
the Board, | would like to thank the people who
have made today possible and are integral to
our tomorrow. My appreciation for our business
partners, management, shareholders and our
employees for their hard work in these trying times.
With your support and faith, we are confident in
making further progress toward unlocking and
delivering sustainable value in FY2021 and beyond.

CHEN QIUHAI
Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director
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Revenue

Group revenue for the financial year ended 30 June
2020 (“"FY2020") saw marked improvement from the
previous financial year (“FY2019") due to higher sales
recorded for both domestic and overseas custom-
ers. The stronger demand drove a RMB14.2 million
increase in revenue to RMB75.6 million for FY2020
from RMB61.4 million in FY2019. On the domestic
front, we saw growing customer taste for our pro-
cessed bamboo shoots, processed mushroom and
konjac jelly which translated to higher sales volume
and average selling price. Similarly, we were able
to ramp up sales to our overseas customers for our
processed mushroom and bamboo shoots. The Man-
agement also undertook extensive negotiation with
our Japanese customers to accept an adjustment to
selling prices.

Meanwhile, an increase in space rented out helped
marginally improve revenue from our investment
properties to RMB5.3 million from RMB5.1 million in
FY2019.

Gross Profit

The abovementioned higher demand also led to a
gross profit of RMB12.7 million as compared to a
gross loss of RMB9.7 million in FY2019. Correspond-
ingly, we reported a gross profit margin of 16.8%
as compared to the gross loss margin disclosed in
FY2019.

Other Operating Expenses

The Group’s other operating expenses for FY2020
comprised of impairment of right of use assets, cost
of raw materials and other miscellaneous expens-
es. In total, other operating expenses halved from
RMB15.9 million in FY2019, to RMB7.6 million, a

OPERATIONS
REVIEW

RMB8.3 million decrease. This was attributable to no
fair value loss of investment properties, write down of
inventories to net realizable value, and impairment of
associates classified as held for sale recorded during
the financial period.

Other Expenses

Finance costs remained unchanged at RMB0.4 mil-
lion.

As aresult of the factors above, the year under review
was profitable with a profit after tax of RMB6.8 mil-
lion, a turnaround from the loss after tax of RMB35.0
million for FY2019.

Financial Position

As we work to improve our performance year-on-
year, we continue to closely monitor and maintain a
healthy balance sheet.

The Group’s non-current assets increased from
RMB263.4 million as at 30 June 2019, to RMB280.3
million as at 30 June 2020. This was mainly due to
acquisition of property, plant and equipment of
RMB9.9 million and fair value gain on investment
properties of RMB14.1 million recognised which was
partially offset by the depreciation and amortisation
expenses of RMB3.5 million and impairment of right
of use assets of RMB7.0 million. The acquisition of
property, plant and equipment was mainly incurred
for the reconstruction of factory building and ware-
house buildings. During the financial period, inde-
pendent valuation experts were appointed to assess
the fair value of the investment properties and lease-
hold properties of the Group.

In contrast, the Group's current assets decreased
by RMB8.1 million to RMB54.0 million as at 30 June
2020, from RMB62.1 million as at 30 June 2019. This

YAMADA GREEN RESOURCES LIMITED
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was mainly due to the reduction in inventories and
trade and other receivables of RMB3.0 million and
RMB16.4 million respectively which was partially
offset by the increase in prepayments and cash and
bank balances of RMB1.8 million and RMB9.5 million
respectively. Our effective inventory control and re-
versal of write-down of inventories to net realizable
value were the drivers behind the decrease in inven-
tories. Furthermore, effective credit management
and lower advances to suppliers helped lower trade
and other receivables.

On a separate note, the Group's non-current liabili-
ties increased by RMB6.0 million, from RMB37.9 mil-
lion as at 30 June 2019 to RMB43.9 million as at 30
June 2020. This was mainly attributable to deferred
tax liability derived from the valuation of leasehold
properties and investment properties.

For FY2020, a decrease in trade and other payables
and short-term bank borrowings of RMB16.5 million
and RMB1.0 million resulted in current liabilities be-
ing lower by RMB17.5 million at RMB20.7 million as
compared to RMB38.2 million as at 30 June 2019.
The decrease in short-term bank borrowings was due
to repayment of bank borrowings during the financial
period.

Statement of Cash Flow

For the period under review, net cash inflow from
operating activities saw healthy increase of RMB5.5
million to RMB11.1 million from RMB5.6 million in
FY2019. This was mainly attributable to higher profits
generated during the financial period coupled with
lower receivables and inventories which were partial-
ly offset by lower payables.

YAMADA GREEN RESOURCES LIMITED
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The Group's net cash used in investing activities
was RMBO.1 million in FY2020 mainly due to capi-
tal expenditure on acquisition of property, plant and
equipment which was partially offset by receipts
from disposal of investment in associates. The capi-
tal expenditure on acquisition of property, plant and
equipment was mainly incurred for the reconstruc-
tion of factory building and warehouse buildings.

There was a net cash outflow of RMB1.8 million from
financing activities in FY2020 mainly due to repay-
ment of bank borrowings in the fourth quarter of
FY2020 which was partially offset by earlier draw-
downs of bank borrowings during the second quar-
ter.

As a result of the above, cash and cash equivalents
nearly doubled from RMB12.9 million in FY2019 to
RMB22.4 million in FY2020.




Chang Feng-chang (3fI£¥%)
Independent Non-Executive Chairman

Mr. Chang Feng-chang was re-designated as
Independent Non-Executive Chairman of the
Board on 23 April 2019. He is also the Chairman
of the Audit Committee and a member of the
Nominating and Remuneration Committees. He
was appointed on 17 September 2010 as our Non-
Executive Director and has been re-designated as
an Independent Director on 21 August 2013. From
2009 to 2010, he was a senior partner at Grant
Thornton Zhonghua CPAs, where he oversaw the
international client service, in particular assisting
and advising Chinese clients on their global
expansion. From 2000 to 2009, he was a partner at
BDO Shanghai Zhonghua CPAs. He graduated from
The University of Missouri in 1994 with a Master
Degree of Science in Accounting.

BOARD
OF DIRECTORS

Chen Qiuhai (F&FE)

Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

Mr Chen Qiuhai was re-designated as our Executive
Director and Chief Executive Officer (“CEO") on 23
April 2019. Prior to the re-designation, he was our
Executive Chairman and CEO. He is the founder of
our Group and was appointed as a director of our
Company on 8 February 2010. He is responsible
for overseeing the overall management, operations
and business strategy of our Group. Prior to this,
he was a manager at Fujian Tourism Company Ltd
from 1988 to 1998, and was responsible for the
company's sales and liaisons. He was the chief
representative of a Japanese company named
Yamashiro Nosan Co., Ltd. from 1994 to 1998
on a part-time basis, where he was responsible
for negotiation, procurement, inspection and
coordination with exporters of food products
(mainly mushrooms and bamboo shoots) from PRC
(Fujian and Shandong Provinces) to Japan. Since
the establishment of Fujian Wangsheng Industrial
Co., Ltd. ("Wangsheng") (formerly known as Fuzhou
Wangcheng Foods Development Co., Ltd.), he
has received recognition for his contributions to
Wangsheng, and was awarded the prestigious
Outstanding Young Entrepreneur Award by the
Communist Youth League Committee of Fujian
Province in 2009. He graduated from Chinese
People’s Public Security University with a degree
in Japanese language in 1988. Mr. Chen is also
the director of Wangsheng, Nanping Yuanwang
Foods Co., Ltd, Fuzhou Kangzhimei Foods Co. Ltd,
and Feng Zhi Qiu International Holding Company
Limited.
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Chua Ser Miang (Z221)
Lead Independent Director

Mr. Chua was appointed as an Independent
Director of the Group on 23 September 2013, and
assumes the role of Chairman of the Nominating
and Remuneration Committees, and a member of
the Audit Committee.

Mr. Chua is presently a director of Eastwin Capital
Pte Ltd, a corporate advisory firm which he
joined in 2013 after spending 20 years in both
the private and public sectors. Prior to this, Mr.
Chua was a Director of Corporate Finance at
DMG & Partners Securities where he was primarily
involved in advising local and foreign corporates
on financial and equity capital market transactions
including public listings, fund raising, and mergers
and acquisitions. He was also previously a Vice
President with Daiwa Securities SMBC Singapore
and the Managing Director of Asia Growth Capital
Advisory. Mr. Chua started his career as a Senior
Review Officer with the Monetary Authority of
Singapore in 1993.

Mr. Chua is currently the Non-Executive Chairman
and Independent Director of Aoxin Q&M Dental
Group Ltd, listed on the Catalist board of the SGX-
ST. Mr. Chua graduated with a Bachelor of Business
Administration (Hons) from the National University
of Singapore. He is qualified as a Chartered
Financial Analyst of CFA Institute, and is a member
of the Singapore Institute of Directors.

YAMADA GREEN RESOURCES LIMITED
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Goi Lang Ling (31=3%)
Non-Executive Director

Ms Goi Lang Ling, Laureen, was appointed on
23 April 2019 as our Non-Executive Director.
She is a member of the Audit, Nominating and
Remuneration Committees.

She has 25 years of experience primarily in
companies involved in the food and manufacturing
industries. She is currently the Director
and General Manager at Tee Yih Jia Food
Manufacturing Pte. Ltd. (TYJ), the global frozen
foods manufacturer with world-famous spring roll
pastry and roti paratha.

Ms. Goi holds a Master in Business and Technology
from the University of New South Wales, Australia.
She is a director of a number of subsidiaries
and associated companies of TYJ. She is also
an Independent, Non-executive Director and a
member of the Remuneration Committee of Yeo
Hiap Seng Limited (YHS). She has been appointed
by Enterprise Singapore (ESG) as committee
member of Food Standards Committee (FSC).
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Xie Yimin (§{z5R)
Executive Director

Mr Xie Yimin is our Executive Director and was appointed on 23 April
2019. He has joined Wangsheng as an Assistant General Manager since
2016 and is responsible for overseeing the operations and sales of
Wangsheng. Prior to joining Wangsheng, he was a General Manager in
Chaohu Meixiang Shoes Co., Ltd. from 2013 to 2016, mainly responsible
for overseeing the overall management and operations of the company.
From 2000 to 2013, he worked in two different trading companies,
namely Jiexi Trade (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. and Longshan Loji International
Trade (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.. During the period in the trading companies,
he was mainly responsible for overseeing the operations, purchasing and
exports of the companies. He graduated from Fuzhou University Adult
Education in 1997 with a degree in Civil Engineering. He was obtained
the qualification of JLPT Japanese Language Grade N2 from Ministry of

Education of PRC in 2006.

KEY MANAGEMENT
PERSONNEL

Zhou Chen ([E/Z) was appointed as our Chief
Financial Officer on 12 January 2018 and is overall
in-charge of the financial matters of our Group.
He oversees our Group's financial matters and
compliance with post-listing obligations. Currently,
he is the Independent Director, AC Chairman and
member of NC of Wuzhou International Holdings
Limited which is listed on Hong Kong Stock
Exchange. Prior to joining our Group, he was Chief
Treasury Officer of China Graphene Group Limited
which is listed on Hong Kong Stock Exchange.
From 2015 to 2016, he was Chief Financial Officer
of Asia Fashion Holdings Limited which is listed
on the Main Board of the Singapore Exchange
Securities Trading Limited. He is a fellow member
of the Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountant.
He graduated with an Accounting Professional
Qualification from the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountant (ACCA).

Liu Liping (XI3Z) was appointed as Deputy
General Manager on May 2018. He joined
Wangsheng in 1998, overseeing the logistics
and warehousing departments. He also served
as the head of the management, production and
quality inspection departments and is responsible
for human resource, administrative matters and

procurement of raw materials for Wangsheng. On
March 2016, he was seconded to Fujian Tianwang
Food Co., Ltd., an associated company of our
Group, to assist and supervise the production and
quality management of the Tianwang factory. Prior
to joining Wangsheng, he was a supervisor at Fujian
Lionscore Sport Products Co., Ltd. from 1993 to
1998. From 1990 to 1993, he was a research and
development assistant in Fuzhou Pharmaceutical
Factory. He graduated from East China Institute
of Chemical Technology with a degree in
pharmaceutical studies in 1990. He was admitted as
an assistant engineer by Fuzhou Personnnel Bureau
in 1992.

Zheng Renmei (£[{=35) was appointed as General
Manager of Fengwang Agricultural Products Co.,
Ltd. (“Fengwang”) on April 2018 and is responsible
for the overall management of Fengwang. He
joined Wangsheng in 2006 after complete his
diploma study. During his service period at
Wangsheng, he was responsible for administrative
matters. On September 2008, he was seconded to
Fengwang, as Head of Administrative Department.
On May 2016, he was promoted as Assistant
General Manager of Fengwang.

YAMADA GREEN RESOURCES LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2020

[



CORPORATE
INFORMATION

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Chang Feng-chang
(Independent Non-Executive Chairman)

Chen Qiuhai
(Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer)

Xie Yimin
(Executive Director)

Chua Ser Miang
(Lead Independent Director)

Goi Lang Ling
(Non-Executive Director)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Chang Feng-chang (Chairman)
Chua Ser Miang

Goi Lang Ling

NOMINATING COMMITTEE
Chua Ser Miang (Chairman)
Chang Feng-chang

Goi Lang Ling

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Chua Ser Miang (Chairman)
Chang Feng-chang

Goi Lang Ling

REGISTERED OFFICE

7 Temasek Boulevard
#32-01 Suntec Tower One
Singapore 038987

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

No. 2 Dongling Road, Minhou Economic and
Technological Development Zone, Ganzhe
Street Minhou County, Fuzhou City, Fujian
Province, The PRC

COMPANY SECRETARY
Wong Chee Meng Lawrence

YAMADA GREEN RESOURCES LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2020

SHARE REGISTRAR

RHT Corporate Advisory Pte. Ltd.
30 Cecil Street

# 19-08, Prudential Tower
Singapore 049712

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited
Hong Leong Finance Limited

China Construction Bank, Fujian Branch

Postal Savings Bank of China

SOLICITOR

Bird & Bird ATMD LLP

2 Shenton Way #18-01 SGX Centre 1
Singapore 068804

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

Foo Kon Tan LLP

Public Accountants and Chartered Accountants
24 Raffles Place

#07-03, Clifford Centre

Singapore 048621

Partner-in-charge: Chang Fook Kay

(with effect from the financial year ended

30 June 2019)



FINANCIAL
CONTENTS

14

42

47

54

55

56

57

59

150

152

Corporate Governance Report

Directors’ Statement

Independent Auditor’s Report

Statements of Financial Position

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Notes to the Financial Statements

Statistics of Shareholdings

Notice of Annual General Meeting

Proxy Form




Q

STATEMENT OF
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board of Directors (the “Board” or the “Directors”) of Yamada Green Resources Limited (the
“Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) recognises the importance of sound corporate
governance in protecting the interest of the shareholders as well as strengthening investors’' confidence
in the management and financial reporting of the Group. The Group is committed to ensuring and
maintaining a high standard of corporate governance within the Group. Good corporate governance
establishes and maintains a legal and ethical environment, which helps to safeguard the interests of
the shareholders of the Group. This corporate governance report describes the corporate governance
framework and practices of the Group with specific reference made to the principles and guidelines of
the Code of Corporate Governance 2018 (the “Code”). Unless otherwise stated, these practices were in
place throughout the financial year ended 30 June 2020 (“FY2020").

BOARD MATTERS

The Board’s Conduct of Affairs

Principle 1: The company is headed by an effective Board which is collectively responsible and works
with Management for the long-term success of the company.

Provision 1.1

The Board assumes responsibility for stewardship of the Group and is primarily responsible for the
protection and enhancement of long-term value and returns for the shareholders. It supervises
the Management of the business and affairs of the Group, provides corporate direction, monitors
managerial performance and reviews financial results of the Group. The Board also sets the tone for
the Company in respect of code of conducts, ethics, values and desired organisational culture and also
ensures proper accountability within the Group. In addition, the Board is directly responsible for decision
making in respect of the following matters:

a. providing entrepreneurial leadership and sets the overall strategy and direction of the Group;

b. approve the business strategies including significant acquisition and realisation of subsidiaries or
assets and liabilities;

C. approve the annual budgets, major funding proposals, significant capital expenditures and
investment and divestment proposals;

d. approve the Group's quarterly and full year financial results;

e. oversee the processes for risk management, financial reporting and compliance and evaluate
the adequacy and effectiveness of internal controls and risk management system, as may be
recommended by the Audit Committee (“AC");

f. review the performance of the Management, approve the nominations to the Board or
appointment of key management personnel, as may be recommended by the Nominating
Committee (“NC");

g. review and endorse the framework of remuneration for the Board and key management
personnel, as may be recommended by the Remuneration Committee (“RC");
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h. review and endorse corporate policies in keeping with good corporate governance and business
practice;

i. declaration of interim dividend and proposal of final dividend;

j. review and approve interested party transactions and matters involving conflict of interest for
substantial shareholders or Directors;

k. consider sustainability issues such as environmental factors; and

all other matters of material importance.

Where a Director has a conflict or potential conflict of interest in relation to any matter, he/she will
immediately declare and setting out the details of his/her interest and conflict at the Board meeting and
recuse himself/herself from any discussions on the matter and abstain from participating in any Board
decision.

The Board provides shareholders with a balanced and clear assessment of the Group’s performance,
position and prospects on a quarterly basis. All Directors are expected to objectively discharge their
duties and responsibilities at all times as fiduciaries in the interests of the Company.

Provision 1.2

A formal letter of appointment would be furnished to every newly-appointed Director upon their
appointment explaining, among other matters, their roles, obligations, duties, and responsibilities as a
member of the Board.

Upon appointment, the Company will arrange for the new Director who has had no prior experience
as a director of a listed company to attend training conducted by Singapore Institute of Directors in
accordance to Rule 201(5) of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited
(the “SGX-ST"), at the expense of the Company, to enable him/her to discharge his/her duties effectively.
Appropriate briefing and orientation will also be arranged for newly appointed Directors to familiarise
them with the Group’s business operation, strategic directions, director's duties and responsibilities,
the corporate governance practices, policies on disclosure of interests in securities, the rules relating to
disclosure of any conflict of interest in a transaction involving the Company, prohibitions in dealing in
the Company’s securities and restrictions on disclosure of price sensitive information. They will also be
given opportunities to visit the Group’s operation facilities in the People’s Republic of China and meet
the Management so as to gain a better understanding of the Group’s business. No new Director was
appointed in FY2020.

Directors are also updated regularly on key regulatory and accounting changes at quarterly meetings.
News releases issued by the SGX-ST and the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority (the “ACRA")
which are relevant to the Directors are circulated to the Board. The Company Secretary would inform the
Directors of upcoming conferences and seminars relevant to their roles as Directors of the Company.
Annually, the external auditor updates the AC and the Board on the new and revised financial reporting
standards that are applicable to the Company or the Group. In addition, the Management regularly
updates and familiarises the Directors on the business activities of the Group during the Board meetings.

Directors and key management personnel are encouraged to undergo relevant training to enhance their
skills and knowledge, especially on new laws and regulations affecting the Group’s operations. All the
costs are borne by the Company.
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Provision 1.3

The Board has adopted a set of internal guidelines setting forth matters that requires the Board's
approval and clearly communicates this to Management in writing.

Matters which are specifically reserved to the Board for decision-making are those involving corporate
plans and budgets, material acquisitions and realisation of assets, share issuances, declaration of
dividends and other returns to shareholders of the Company. The Management is responsible for day-
to-day operations and administration of the Group and the Management are accountable to the Board.
Clear directions have been given out to the Management that such reserved matters must be approved
by the Board.

Matters requiring board approval include the followings:

(1) approval of corporate plans and budgets;

(2)  major investments/divestments and funding decisions;

(3) declaration of dividends or other returns to shareholders;

(4)  announcements or press releases on SGXNet, including financial result announcements;

(5) transactions which are not in the ordinary course of business of the Company;

(6)  major borrowings or corporate guarantees in relation to borrowings;

(7)  new banking facilities and corporate guarantees;

(8)  profit-sharing arrangements;

(9)  incorporation or dissolution of any subsidiary;

(10) allotment and issuance of shares or declaration of dividends;

(11) operating budgets, annual report, Directors’ statement and audited financial statements;

(12) change in corporate business strategy and direction; and

(13) material acquisitions and disposal of assets.

Provision 1.4

Board Committees

Our Directors recognise the importance of good corporate governance and in offering high standards
of accountability to our shareholders. In order to provide independent oversight and to discharge its
responsibilities more efficiently, the Board has delegated certain functions to various Board Committees.
The Board Committees consist of the AC, NC, and RC (collectively, “Board Committees”), each of which
functions within clearly defined terms of reference (as detailed under Provisions 4.1, 6.1 and 10.1 of this
report) and operating procedures which are reviewed on a regular basis. The Chairman of the respective
Board Committees will report to the Board on the proceedings of the Board Committees meetings and

their recommendations on the specific agendas mandated to the Board Committees by the Board. The
composition and description of each Board Committee are also set out in other sections of this report.
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Provision 1.5

The Board conducts regular Board meetings to review the Group’s financial results and where
necessary, additional Board meetings are held to address significant issues or transactions of the Group.
Dates of the Board and Board Committees meetings are normally fixed by the Directors in advance.
The Constitution of the Company allows a meeting of Board or Board Committee to be conducted by
means of telephone conference or similar communication equipment pursuant to which all Directors
participating in a meeting are able to hear each other, without a Director being in physical presence
in meetings. Decisions of the Board and Board Committees may also be deliberated and determined
through circular resolutions in writing. Directors with multiple board representations ensure that
sufficient time and attention are given to the affairs of each company.

The number of meetings held by the Board and Board Committees and attendance of Directors at the
meetings for FY2020 is set out as follows:

Nominating Remuneration
Audit Committee Committee Committee
Name of Directors Board Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings
Held |Attended| Held |Attended| Held |Attended| Held |Attended
Mr Chang Feng-chang 4 4 4 4 1 1 1 1
Mr Chen Qiuhai 4 4 - - - - - -
Mr Chua Ser Miang 4 4 4 4 1 1 1 1
Mr Xie Yimin 4 4 - - - - - -
Ms Goi Lang Ling 4 4 4 4 1 1 1 1

The Board is of the view that the contribution of each Director should not focus only on his attendance
at meetings of the Board and/or Board Committees. A Director’s contribution may also extend beyond
the confines of the formal environment of such meetings, through the sharing of views, advice,
experience and strategic networking relationships which would further the interests of the Group.

Provision 1.6

Management provides Directors with complete, adequate and timely information prior to the Board
and Board Committee meetings and regularly updates and familiarises the Directors on the business
activities of the Group on an on-going basis and during Board meetings, to enable the Directors to
make informed decisions and discharge their duties and responsibilities. Directors will also be given
opportunities to visit the Group’s operational facilities and meet the Management so as to gain a better
understanding of the Group’s business.

Provision 1.7

All Directors have separate and independent access to the Management and the Company Secretary,
who is responsible for ensuring the Board procedures are followed and that applicable rules and
regulations are complied with and when necessary, external advisers at the Company's expense. The
Company Secretary and/or his representatives attend all the Board and Board Committees meetings.
The appointment and removal of the Company Secretary is a decision of the Board as a whole.
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Board Composition and Guidance

Principle 2: The Board has an appropriate level of independence and diversity of thought and
background in its composition to enable it to make decisions in the best interests of the
Company.

The Board comprises of two (2) Executive Directors, one (1) Non-Executive Director and two (2)
Independent Directors. Their combined wealth and diversity of experience enable them to contribute
efficiently and effectively to the strategic growth and governance of the Group.

The list of Directors for FY2020 is as follows:

Mr Chang Feng-chang Independent Non-Executive Chairman (the “Chairman”)
Mr Chen Qiuhai Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer (the “CEQ")
Mr Chua Ser Miang Lead Independent Director

Mr Xie Yimin Executive Director

Ms Goi Lang Ling Non-Executive Director

The profiles of the Directors are set out on pages 9 and 11 of this Annual Report.
Provision 2.1

The criterion for independence is based on the definition set out in the Code, and taking into
consideration whether the Directors falls under any circumstances pursuant to Rule 210(5) of the
Mainboard Rules. The Board considers an “independent” Director as one who is independent in conduct,
character and judgement, and has no relationship with the Company, its related corporations, its
substantial shareholders or its officers that could interfere, or be reasonably perceived to interfere, with
the exercise of the Director's independent business judgement in the best interests of the Company.
The NC conducts an annual review to determine the independence of the Directors in accordance to
the Code as well as the Mainboard Rules. In its review, the NC considers all nature of relationships
and circumstances that could influence the judgement and decisions of the Directors before tabling its
findings and recommendations to the Board for approval.

The appointment period of each director should also be taken into consideration in determining his
independence pursuant to Provision 2.1 of the Code.

The Board conducts a rigorous review of the independence of the Directors who have served beyond
nine years. The Board's rigorous review includes critical examination of any conflicts of interest, as well
as review of each director’s involvement in affairs of the Company, including board and committee
meetings, discussions, views and comments expressed and decisions taken on matters and proposals
put before the Board. The review will also take into consideration input from various sources, including
the findings of board performance evaluation and assessment of director's performance, as well as
feedback from fellow directors including executive directors. Through this exercise, the Board will seek
to ascertain the independence of each Independent director, and his contribution to the effectiveness
of the Board's oversight role and in the discharge of its duties and responsibilities in ensuring that the
Company is run and managed in the interest of the Company and that of its shareholders.

The Board, after taking into consideration the recommendation of the NC, is of the view that the Mr
Chua Ser Miang is independent pursuant to the definition of independence of the Code as there are no
relationships or circumstances which could interfere, or could reasonably perceived to interfere with the
exercise of independent business judgement of an Independent Director.
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Presently, Mr Chang Feng-chang has served on the Board as Independent Director for more than nine
years. Taking into account the views of the NC, the Board concurs with the NC that the length of service
of a Director should not determine the effectiveness of independence of an Independent Director. The
NC and the Board consider it more appropriate to have regard to the Director’s contribution in terms
of professionalism, integrity, objectivity and the actual display of objectivity and independence in his
exercise of judgment in the interest of the Company. The Board is of the view that Mr Chang Feng-chang
has over the years developed significant insights into the Group's business and operations, and continue
to provide significant and valuable contribution to the Board as a whole. That Mr Chang Feng-chang
served more than 9 years as Independent Director has not, in any way, detracted from his exercise of
judgement independently and objectively in the interest of the Company and its shareholders.

Both Mr Chua Ser Miang and Mr Chang Feng-chang have abstained from the NC's and Board's
deliberation on the matter pertaining to their respective position.

Provision 2.2

There is a strong and independent element on the Board as the Independent Directors and Non-
Executive Director make up a majority of the Board. The Chairman and the Lead Independent Director
are independent.

Provision 2.3
The Independent Directors and Non-Executive Director make up a majority of the Board.
Provision 2.4

The size and composition of the Board and the Board Committees are reviewed annually by the NC
to ensure that the size and composition of the Board and the Board Committees are conducive to
effective discussions and decision-making, and to ensure that there is an appropriate mix of expertise
and experience to enable Management to benefit from a diverse perspective to issues that are brought
before the Board.

The NC is satisfied that taking into account the nature and scope of the Group's operations, the
current size and the composition of the Board and the Board Committees, are appropriate to meet the
Company's objectives and facilitates effective decision making.

The Independent Directors and Non-Executive Director have the necessary experience and expertise to
assist the Board in decision making and provide greater balance to the Board as they do not participate
in the day-to-day running of the Group. The Independent Directors and Non-Executive Director may
challenge and help develop proposals on strategy, review the performance of and to extend guidance
to the Management. Board's decisions are undertaken on a unanimous basis and no individual or small
group of individuals dominate the Board's decision-making process.

The Company does not have a Board diversity policy but it consists of professionals from various
disciplines. The Board comprises persons with diverse expertise and experience in accounting, business
and management, finance, legal and risk management who as a group provide a balance of skill,
knowledge, experience and other aspects of diversity such as gender and age to the Company’s business.
This balance is important to promote the inclusion of different perspectives and ideas, mitigate against
group think and ensure that the Company has the opportunity to benefit from all available talent and the
strategies proposed by the Management are fully discussed and examined, taking into account the long-
term interests of the Group.

Despite not having an official Board diversity policy, the Board through the reviews and considerations
above, is confident of maintaining and attracting a diverse and effective composition regardless of
gender, race, ethnicity, religion, age or other aspect of diversity.
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Provision 2.5

The Independent Directors and Non-Executive Director, led by the Lead Independent Director,
meet amongst themselves without the presence of the Management, where necessary, and the Lead
Independent Director will provide feedback to the Board after such meetings.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Principle 3: There is a clear division of responsibilities between the leadership of the Board and
Management, and no one individual has unfettered powers of decision-making.

Provision 3.1

Mr Chang Feng-chang is the Independent Non-Executive Chairman. Mr Chen Qiuhai, the founder
of the Group is the Executive Director and CEO. The roles of the Chairman and CEO are separate and
distinct, each having his own areas of responsibilities. The Board believes that a distinctive separation
of responsibilities between the Chairman and the CEO will ensure an appropriate balance of power,
increased accountability and greater capacity of the Board for independent decision-making.

Provision 3.2

As the CEO, Mr Chen Qiuhai oversees the business direction, long-term strategic planning and the overall
management and operations of the Group. He is also responsible for, among others, the exercise of
control over quantity, quality and timeliness of information flow between the Management and the
Board. He is also assisting in ensuring compliance with the Group's guidelines on corporate governance
and facilitating the effective contribution of Non-Executive Director. The Directors may also, at any time,
visit the Group’s operations and facilities to gain a better understanding of the Group's business. If
any applicable regulatory change has a material impact on the Group, the Management will brief the
Directors at Board meetings.

Mr Chen Qiuhai together with the Management comprising key management personnel and general
managers of each subsidiary, are responsible for the day-to-day operation of the Group.

Mr Chang Feng-chang, the Chairman bears responsibilities for leading the Board and the workings of the
Board. The Chairman, with the assistance of the Company Secretary and/or their representative, ensures
that the Board meetings are held when necessary and sets the board meeting agenda in consultation
with the CEO. The Chairman and the CEO ensure that Board members are provided with complete,
adequate and timely information on a regular basis to enable them to be fully apprised of the affairs
of the Company and to make informed judgment on matters tabled before the Board. Board papers
incorporating sufficient information from the management are forwarded to the Board members in
advance of a Board Meeting to enable each member to be adequately prepared.

Provision 3.3

Mr Chua Ser Miang has been appointed as Lead Independent Director of the Company pursuant to
Provision 3.3 of the Code. The Lead Independent Director will lead and co-ordinate the activities of
the Independent Directors and serve as a principal liaison on Board issues between the Independent
Directors and the Executive Directors of the Board. The Lead Independent Director is available to
shareholders who have concerns for which contact through the normal channels of the CEO, Executive
Directors or Chief Financial Officer have failed to resolve or for which such contact is inappropriate.
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Board Membership

Principle 4: The Board has a formal and transparent process for the appointment and re-appointment

of directors, taking into account the need for progressive renewal of the Board.

Provision 4.1

The Board, through the delegation of its authority to the NC, has used its best efforts to ensure that
Directors appointed to the Board possess the relevant background, experience, and knowledge in
business, finance and management skills to enable the Board to make effective decisions.

The key roles of the NC are:

make recommendations to the Board on the appointment of new Executive and Non-Executive
Directors, including making recommendations on the composition of the Board;

review the Board structure, size, and composition and make recommendations to the Board with
regards to any adjustments that are deemed necessary;

identify and nominate candidates for the approval of the Board, to fill Board vacancies as and
when they arise as well as put in place plans for succession, in particular for the Chairman and the
CEO;

determine the independence of Directors on an annual basis in accordance with Provision 2.1 and
2.2 of the Code;

make recommendations to the Board for the continuation (or not) in services of any Director who
has reached the age of seventy (70) years, if any;

recommend Directors who are retiring by rotation to be put forward for re-election;

decide whether a Director is able to and has been adequately carrying out his duties as a Director
of the Company, particularly when he has multiple board representations;

recommend to the Board internal guidelines to address the competing time commitments faced by
Directors who serve on multiple boards;

reviewing training and professional development programs for the Board;
assess the effectiveness of the Board as a whole; and

decide on how the Board's performance may be evaluated and propose objective performance
criteria.

Provision 4.2

The composition of the NC is:

Mr Chua Ser Miang Chairman
Mr Chang Feng-chang Member
Ms Goi Lang Ling Member

The Lead Independent Director, Mr Chua Ser Miang, is the Chairman of the NC.
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Since the majority of the members of the NC are independent, the Board is satisfied that sufficient
measures have been put in place to ensure that all matters are deliberated independently and
objectively by the NC. This includes that the prohibition of business to be transacted by the NC without
a quorum of the meeting, of which should be formed by at least two (2) members, including at least
one (1) independent director. The recommendation by the NC would be submitted for the Board's
endorsement before implementation.

Provision 4.3

The NC is responsible for identifying and recommending potential candidates for appointment as
director to the Board, after considering the necessary and desirable competencies. In selecting potential
directors, the NC will seek to identify the competencies required to enable the Board to fulfil its
responsibilities. The NC will ensure that new Directors are aware of their duties and obligations.

Regulation 91 of the Constitution of the Company requires the number nearest to but not less than one-
third of the Directors for the time being to retire from office by rotation and subject themselves for re-
election by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting (“AGM") of the Company. It is also provided by
Regulation 97 of the Constitution of the Company that any Director appointed during the financial year
shall hold office only until the next AGM of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at the
AGM of the Company. Each member of the NC shall abstain from voting on any resolutions in respect to
his/her re-nomination as a director.

The dates of initial appointment and last re-election of each current Director of the Company are set out
below:

Name of Directors Position held on the Board Date of First Date of Last
Appointment Re-election

Mr Chen Qiuhai Executive Director and CEO 8 February 2010 30 October 2019

Mr Xie Yimin Executive Director 23 April 2019 30 October 2019

Mr Chua Ser Miang Lead Independent Director | 23 September 2013 27 February 2019

Mr Chang Feng-chang Independent Non-Executive | 17 September 2010 30 October 2019

Chairman
Ms Goi Lang Ling Non-Executive Director 23 April 2019 30 October 2019

The NC has recommended to the Board that Mr Chua Ser Miang and Mr Xie Yimin be nominated for re-
election at the Company’s forthcoming AGM. In making the recommendation, the NC has considered
each of the said Directors’ overall contribution and performance. The Board has accepted the
recommendation of the NC. Each member of the NC and the Board shall abstain from voting on any
resolutions and making any recommendations and/or participating in any deliberations of the NC and
the Board in respect of the assessment of their own performance or re-nomination as Director.

Mr Xie Yimin will, upon re-election as a Director, remain as Executive Director of the Company. Mr Chua
Ser Miang will, upon re-election as a Director, remain as the Lead Independent Director of the Company,
the Chairman of RC and NC, and a member of the AC.
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Pursuant to Rule 720(6) of the Listing Manual of SGX-ST, Directors seeking re-election at a general
meeting have to provide the information as set out in Appendix 7.4.1 of the Listing Manual. The required
information on the two Directors seeking re-election at the forthcoming AGM are appended herein:

Name of Director

Chua Ser Miang

Xie Yimin

Date of appointment

23 September 2013

23 April 2019

Date of last re-appointment (if |27 February 2019 30 October 2019
applicable)

Age 52 45

Country of principal residence Singapore People’'s Republic of China

The Board's comments on the NC's
recommendation for re-election

The re-election of Mr Chua
Ser Miang as a Director
of the Company was
recommended by the NC
and the Board has accepted
the recommendation, after
taking into consideration
Mr  Chua Ser Miang
qualifications, skills,
expertise, past experience
and overall contribution
since he was appointed as a
Director of the Company.

The re-election of Mr
Xie Yimin as a Director
of the Company was
recommended by the NC
and the Board has accepted
the recommendation, after
taking into consideration Mr
Xie Yimin qualifications, skills,
expertise, past experience
and overall contribution
since he was appointed as a
Director of the Company.

Whether appointment is executive, and
if so, the area of responsibility

Non-executive

Executive. Responsible for
assisting CEO in developing
and implementing the
overall business strategy,
overseeing the management
and operation of Fujian
Wangsheng Industrial Co.,
Ltd.

Job title

Lead Independent Director

Executive Director

Working experience and occupation(s)
during the past 10 years

2013 - Present: Eastwin
Capital Pte Ltd (Director)

2017 - Present: Aoxin Q&M

Dental Group Ltd (Non-
Executive Independent
Chairman)

Aug 2013 - Jul 2014:

Stamford Management Pte
Ltd (Principal Consultant)

2006 - 2012: DMG &
Partners Securities (Director,
Corporate Finance)

April 2019 - Present: Yamada
Green Resources Limited
(Executive Director)

2016 - April 2019: Fujian

Wangsheng Industrial Co.,
Ltd. (Assistant General
Manager)

2013 - 2016: Chaohu

Meixiang Shoes Co., Ltd.
(General Manager)

2007 - 2013: Jiexi Trade
(Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (Assistant
General Manager)

Shareholding interest in the listed
issuer and its subsidiaries

No

No
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Name of Director Chua Ser Miang Xie Yimin

Any relationship (including immediate | No No
family relationships) with any existing
Director, existing executive officer, the
issuer and/or substantial shareholder of
the listed issuer or of any of its principal
subsidiaries

Conflict of interest (including any |No No
competing business)

Undertaking submitted to the listed | Yes Yes
issuer in the form of Appendix 7.7
(Listing Rule 720(1))

Other Principal Commitments including | 2013 - Present: Eastwin|No
Directorships Capital Pte Ltd (Director)

2017 - Present: Aoxin Q&M
Dental Group Ltd (Non-
Executive Independent
Chairman)

Disclose the following matters concerning an appointment of director, chief executive officer, chief
financial officer, chief operating officer, general manager or other officer of equivalent rank. If the
answer to any question is “yes”, full details must be given.

(@) Whether at any time during the | No No
last 10 years, an application or a
petition under any bankruptcy law
of any jurisdiction was filed against
him or against a partnership of
which he was a partner at the time
when he was a partner or at any
time within 2 years from the date
he ceased to be a partner?

(b) Whether at any time during the | No No
last 10 years, an application or
a petition under any law of any
jurisdiction was filed against an
entity (not being a partnership)
of which he was a director or
an equivalent person or a key
executive, at the time when he was
a director or an equivalent person
or a key executive of that entity
or at any time within 2 years from
the date he ceased to be a director
or an equivalent person or a key
executive of that entity, for the
winding up or dissolution of that
entity or, where that entity is the
trustee of a business trust, that
business trust, on the ground of
insolvency?
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Name of Director

Chua Ser Miang

Xie Yimin

()

Whether there is any unsatisfied
judgment against him?

No

No

(d)

Whether he has ever been
convicted of any offence, in
Singapore or elsewhere, involving
fraud or dishonesty which is
punishable with imprisonment,
or has been the subject of any
criminal proceedings (including
any pending criminal proceedings
of which he is aware) for such
purpose?

No

No

(e)

Whether he has ever been
convicted of any offence, in
Singapore or elsewhere, involving
a breach of any law or regulatory
requirement that relates to the
securities or futures industry in
Singapore or elsewhere, or has
been the subject of any criminal
proceedings (including any
pending criminal proceedings
of which he is aware) for such
breach?

No

No

Whether at any time during the
last 10 years, judgment has been
entered against him in any civil
proceedings in Singapore or
elsewhere involving a breach of
any law or regulatory requirement
that relates to the securities or
futures industry in Singapore or
elsewhere, or a finding of fraud,
misrepresentation or dishonesty
on his part, or he has been the
subject of any civil proceedings
(including any pending civil
proceedings of which he is aware)
involving an allegation of fraud,
misrepresentation or dishonesty
on his part?

No

No

Whether he has ever been
convicted in Singapore or
elsewhere of any offence in
connection with the formation
or management of any entity or
business trust?

No

No
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Name of Director

Chua Ser Miang

Xie Yimin

(h) Whether he has ever been
disqualified from acting as a
director or an equivalent person
of any entity (including the trustee
of a business trust), or from taking
part directly or indirectly in the
management of any entity or
business trust?

No

No

()  Whether he has ever been the
subject of any order, judgment
or ruling of any court, tribunal or
government body, permanently
or temporarily enjoying him from
engaging in any type of business
practice or activity?

No

No

() Whether he has ever, to his
knowledge, been concerned with
the management or conduct, in
Singapore or elsewhere, of the
affairs of:-

(i) any corporation which has
been investigated for a breach
of any law or regulatory
requirement governing
corporations in Singapore or
elsewhere; or

(i) any entity (not being a
corporation) which has been
investigated for a breach
of any law or regulatory
requirement governing such
entities in Singapore or
elsewhere; or

(iii) any business trust which has
been investigated for a breach
of any law or regulatory
requirement governing
business trusts in Singapore
or elsewhere; or

(iv) any entity or business trust
which has been investigated
for a breach of any law or
regulatory requirement that
relates to the securities or
futures industry in Singapore
or elsewhere,

No

No
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Name of Director

Chua Ser Miang

Xie Yimin

in connection with any matter
occurring or arising during that
period when he was so concerned
with the entity or business trust?

(k) Whether he has been the subject
of any current or past investigation
or disciplinary proceedings, or
has been reprimanded or issued
any warning, by the Monetary
Authority of Singapore or any
other regulatory authority,
exchange, professional body or
government agency, whether in

Singapore or elsewhere?

No

No

Disclosure applicable to the appointment

of Director only

Any prior experience as a Director of an
issuer listed on the Exchange?

Yes

No

If yes, please provide details of prior
experience.

Non-Executive Independent
Chairman of Aoxin Q&M
Dental Group Ltd (listed on
Catalist) since 2017

N.A.

If no, please state if the Director has | N.A. Yes. Mr. Xie has attended

attended or will be attending training Listed Entity Director

on the roles and responsibilities of Programme (Mandarin) -

a listed issuer as prescribed by the Core organised by Singapore

Exchange. Institute of Director on 22
May 2019 to 24 May 2019 at
Beijing, PRC.

Please provide details of relevant|N.A. N.A.

experience and the NC's reasons for
not requiring the Director to undergo
training as prescribed by the Exchange

(if applicable).

Provision 4.4

The Company has put in place a process to ensure the continuous monitoring of the independence
of the Directors whereby the Directors must immediately report any changes in their external
appointments that could affect their independence on the Board. Directors disclose their relationships
with the company, its related corporations, its substantial shareholders or its officers, if any, which may
affect their independence, to the Board.The NC reviews the independence of each Director annually
in accordance with the definition of independence set out in the Code, and taking into consideration
whether the Director falls under any circumstances pursuant to Rule 210(5) of the Mainboard Rules.

For the financial year under review, the NC is of the view that the Independent Directors of the Company
are independent, pursuant to the definition of independence of the Code and the Mainboard Rules, and
are able to exercise objective judgement on corporate matters of the Group independently from the

Management.
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Provision 4.5
The NC ensures that new directors are aware of their duties and obligations.

Although the Independent Directors and Non-Executive Director hold directorships in other listed
companies, the Board is of the view that such multiple listed company board representations do not
hinder them from carrying out their duties as Directors. The Board believes that putting a maximum limit
on the number of listed company board representation which a Director can hold is arbitrary, given that
time requirements for each vary, and thus should not be prescriptive. The NC and the Board will review
the requirement to determine the maximum number of listed board representations as and when they
deemed fit.

The NC is of the view that the Independent Directors and Non-Executive Director have each individually
contributed their invaluable experience to the Board and given it a broader perspective on the board
affairs of the Group. The NC, after taking into account the multiple board representations and principal
commitments disclosed by each Independent Director and Non-Executive Director, is satisfied that each
Independent Director and Non-Executive Director has allocated sufficient time and attention to the
affairs of the Group and to adequately discharge their duties as Directors of the Company.

The Board, unless circumstance warrants, does not encourage the practice of alternate directors
appointed for Directors. During FY2020, none of the Directors has put forward the appointment of any
alternate director representing them in the Board.

Board Performance

Principle 5: The Board undertakes a formal annual assessment of its effectiveness as a whole, and that
of each of its board committees and individual directors.

Provisions 5.1 and 5.2

The NC reviews the criteria for evaluating the Board's performance and recommends to the Board a
set of objective performance criteria focusing on enhancing long-term shareholders’ value. The
NC is of the view that each individual Director contributes in different areas to the effectiveness of
the Board as a whole and the success of the Group, and therefore, it would be more appropriate to
assess the performance of the Board as a whole, than assessment on an individual basis. Based on
the recommendations of the NC, the Board has established a formal process for assessment of the
effectiveness of the Board as a whole.

The NC evaluates the Board's performance as a whole on an annual basis based on performance
criteria set out by the Board. The assessment parameters include an evaluation of the Board size and
composition of the Board, the Board's independence, Board processes, Board information, Board
accountability and standards of conduct of the Directors. The performance measurements ensure that
the mix of skills and experience of the Directors continue to meet the needs of the Group.

During FY2020, the NC conducted the assessment by preparing a performance evaluation questionnaire
to be completed by each Director, of which are then collated and the findings are analysed and
discussed with a view to implementing certain recommendations to further enhance the effectiveness of
the Board.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the performance and contribution of each Director to the Board would
be taken into consideration by the NC before putting forward their recommendation for nomination of
retiring Directors at the forthcoming AGM of the Company.
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Although the individual directors are not formally evaluated, the factors taken into consideration with
regards to the re-nomination of Directors for FY2020 are based on their attendance and contributions
made at the Board and Board Committees meetings.

The evaluation of effectiveness and performance of each Board Committee as a whole is carried out
annually on a self-evaluation basis by the respective members of each Board Committee. The results
of the evaluation are reviewed and discussed by each respective Board Committee, and each Board
Committee reports the evaluation results to the Board thereafter. The assessment criteria include but
are not limited to the composition of the Board Committees and the procedure and accountability of
each Board Committee.

The Board, after taking into account of the NC's assessment, is satisfied that the Board and its Board
Committees operate effectively and each Director is contributing to the overall effectiveness of the Board
during FY2020.

No external facilitator has been engaged by the Company for the purpose of evaluation of the Board and
Board Committee during FY2020.

REMUNERATION MATTERS

Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies

Principle 6: The Board has a formal and transparent procedure for developing policy on director and
executive remuneration and for fixing the remuneration packages of individual directors
and key management personnel. No director is involved in deciding his or her own
remuneration.

Provision 6.1
The key roles of the RC are:

° review and recommend to the Board the remuneration packages and terms of employment of the
Executive Directors and key management personnel;

° review and recommend to the Board the grant of options or share awards pursuant to long-term
incentive schemes which may be set up from time to time;

° carry out its duties in the manner that it deems expedient, subject always to any regulations or
restrictions that may be imposed upon the RC by the Board from time to time; and

° ensure that all aspects of remuneration including but not limited to Directors’ fees, salaries,
allowances, bonuses, share options, share-based incentives and awards, and benefit-in-kind are
covered.
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Provision 6.2

The RC comprises two (2) Independent Directors and one (1) Non-Executive Director, the majority
of whom, including the Chairman of RC, are considered independent pursuant to the definition of
independence of the Code.

The composition of the RC is:

Mr Chua Ser Miang Chairman
Mr Chang Feng-chang Member
Ms Goi Lang Ling Member

Provision 6.3
As part of its review, the RC shall take into consideration:

° the remuneration packages should be comparable within the industry practices and norms and
shall include a performance-related element coupled with appropriate and meaningful measures
of assessing individual performance;

° the remuneration packages of employee related to Directors and controlling shareholders of the
Group are in line with the Group’s staff remuneration guidelines and commensurate with their
respective job scope and levels of responsibility; and

° Principle 7 of the Code.

Each member of the RC shall abstain from voting on any resolutions and making recommendations and/
or participating in any deliberations of the RC in respect of his remuneration package.

The RC aims to be fair and avoid rewarding poor performance and review the Group’s obligation in the
event of termination of the contract of service for Executive Directors and key management personnel of
the Group.

The recommendations of the RC would be submitted to the Board for endorsement.

Each member of the RC shall abstain from reviewing and voting any recommendation or any resolutions
in respect of his or her own remuneration package or that of employees related to him or her, or any
other matters concerning him or her to be deliberated by the RC, except for providing information and
documents specifically requested by the RC to assist it in its deliberations.

Provision 6.4

The RC has full authority to engage any external professional to advise on matters relating to
remunerations as and when the need arises. No individual Director shall be involved in deciding his or
her own remuneration. The Company has not engaged any remuneration consultant in respect of the
remuneration matters of the Group during FY2020.
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Level and Mix of Remuneration

Principle 7: The level and structure of remuneration of the Board and key management personnel are
appropriate and proportionate to the sustained performance and value creation of the
Company, taking into account the strategic objectives of the Company.

The level of remuneration should be appropriate to attract, retain and motivate the Directors needed
to run the Company successfully but the company should avoid paying more for this purpose. In
setting remuneration packages, the RC takes into consideration prevailing economic situation, pay and
employment conditions within the similar industry and in comparable corporations.

Provisions 7.1 and 7.3

As part of its review, the RC ensures that the performance-related elements of remuneration form a
significant part of the total remuneration package of Executive Directors and is designed to align the
Directors’ interests with those of shareholders and link rewards to corporate and individual performance.

The Executive Directors do not receive Directors’ fees. The remuneration of the Executive Directors and
the key management personnel comprises primarily a basic salary component and a variable component
which is inclusive of bonuses and other employee benefits.

The Company does not use contractual provisions to allow the Company to reclaim incentive
components of remuneration from Executive Directors and key management personnel in exceptional
circumstances of misstatement of financial results or of misconduct resulting in financial loss to the
Company. The Executive Directors owe a fiduciary duty to the Company. The Company should be able to
avail itself to remedy against the Executive Directors in the event of such breach of fiduciary duties.

Provision 7.2

The RC also reviews all matters concerning the remuneration of Independent Directors and Non-
Executive Director to ensure that the remuneration commensurate with the contribution and
responsibilities of the Independent Directors and Non-Executive Director.

The Independent Directors and Non-Executive Director do not have any service contracts. They receive
Directors’ fees, which takes into account their level of contribution and responsibilities. The payment of
Directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming AGM of the Company.

Disclosure on Remuneration

Principle 8: The Company is transparent on its remuneration policies, level and mix of remuneration,
the procedure for setting remuneration, and the relationships between remuneration,
performance and value creation.

Provisions 8.1 and 8.3

The Company’s remuneration policy is to reward performance and attract, retain and motivate
Directors and key management personnel. The RC will take into account the industry norms, the
Group's, performance as well as the contribution and performance of each Director when determining
remuneration packages. The RC will review the remuneration of the Directors and key management
personnel (including the service contract of the CEO) from time to time.
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A breakdown of the remuneration of the Directors and key management personnel (who are not
Directors), in percentage terms showing the level and mix, for FY2020 falling within the bands is set out
below:

Allowances and

Remuneration Band and Name| Salary | Bonus |Directors’ Fees| Other Benefits Total
Directors % % % % %
Below S$250,000

Mr Chang Feng-chang - - 100 - 100
Mr Chen Qiuhai 91 - - 9 100
Mr Chua Ser Miang - - 100 - 100
Mr Xie Yimin 90 - - 10 100
Ms Goi Lang Ling - - 100 - 100

Key Management Personnel
Below $$250,000

Mr Zhou Chen 90 - - 10 100
Ms Zhang Liwen 90 - - 10 100
Mr Zheng Renmei 91 - - 9 100

There is no employee of the Group who is an immediate family member of any Director or the CEO and
whose remuneration has exceeded S$50,000 for FY2020.

For FY2020, the aggregate total remuneration paid to the key management personnel (who are not the
Directors or the CEO) of the Company amounted to approximately RMB808,000.

For FY2020, there were no termination, retirement or post-employment benefits granted to the Directors
and key management personnel other than the standard contractual notice period termination payment
in lieu of service.

The Board believes that the full disclosure on the remuneration of Directors and key management
personnel is not in the best interests of the Group in light of the remuneration confidentiality and the
avoidance of poaching of Directors and key management personnel of the Group.

The RC has reviewed and approved the remuneration packages of the Directors and key management
personnel, having regard to their contributions as well as the financial performance and commercial
needs of the Group and has ensured that the Directors and key management personnel are adequately
but not excessively remunerated.

The Company has existing share incentives schemes, namely Yamada Green Resources Share Option
Scheme and Yamada Green Resources Performance Share Plan (the “Schemes”) as long term incentive
schemes for the Directors and employees of the Group, whose services are vital to the Group’s success.
Both Schemes will provide eligible participants with an opportunity to participate in the equity of the
Company and to motivate them towards better performance through increased dedication and loyalty.

Information relating to the Schemes is set out on page 43 to 44 of this Annual Report.
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Provision 8.2
There is no employee of the Group (excluding the CEO) who is a substantial shareholder of the Company,

or an immediate family member of any Director, the CEO or substantial shareholders of the Company,
and whose remuneration exceeded S$100,000 during FY2020.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Risk Management and Internal Controls

Principle 9: The Board is responsible for governance of risk and ensure that Management maintains a
sound system of risk management and internal controls to safeguard the interests of the
company and its shareholders.

Provision 9.1

The Board ensures that the Management maintains a sound system of internal controls and effective
risk management policies to safeguard the shareholders’ investment and the Group's assets and in this
regard, the Board is assisted by the AC and the management which conducts the reviews. At this stage,
the Board is of the view that a separate board risk committee need not be established as the Board is
currently responsible for the implementation of the Company’s risk management framework and policies
and the current arrangement is effective for the time being.

The Management reviews regularly the Group’s business and operational activities to identify areas of
significant business risks as well as appropriate measures to control and mitigate these risks within
the Group's policies and strategies. In addition, both the external auditors and the internal auditors of
the Group carry out, during the course of their statutory audit, the review of existence adequacy and
effectiveness of the Group's material internal controls, including company level, financial, operational,
compliance and information technology controls. Material non-compliance and internal control
weaknesses are reported to the AC together with their recommendation for improvements of the
Group's internal controls. The Management will follow up and implement the recommendations
suggested by the external auditors and internal auditors of the Group so as to strengthen the Group's
risk management procedures.

Provision 9.2

The Company has engaged outsourced professional internal auditors to conduct appropriate reviews to
ensure that the system of internal controls and risk management maintained by the Group is adequate
and effective.

The AC has relied on the internal auditors and external auditors to carry out the assessment of
the effectiveness of key internal controls during the financial year. Any material non-compliance or
weaknesses in internal controls and risk management system or recommendations from the internal
auditors and external auditors to further improve systems of internal controls and risk management
system are reported to the AC. The AC will also follow up on the actions taken by the Management on
the recommendations made by the internal auditors and external auditors.
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The Board has received assurance from the CEO and the Executive Director respectively that the financial
records of the Group have been properly maintained and the financial statements give a true and fair
view of the Group's business operations and finances; and the Group's internal control system and risk
management system is in place and effective in addressing the material risks identified by the Group in
its current business environment including material financial, operational, compliance and information
technology risks.

In addition, the AC and the Board had reviewed the adequacy and the effectiveness of the Group's
system of internal controls and risk management system in light of key business and financial risks
affecting the operations.

In compliance with Rule 1207(10) of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST, the Board with the concurrence
of the AC, is of the opinion that the internal controls and risk management systems of the Group are
adequate and effective in addressing financial, operational, compliance and information technology risks
and ensuring assets of the Group are safeguarded as at 30 June 2020, based on the various management
controls in place, the reports from the external auditors, reviews conducted by the Management, and the
assurance from the CEO and the Executive Director.

The system of internal control provides reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that the Group will not
be adversely affected by any event that could be reasonably foreseen as it strives to achieve its business
objectives.

The Board also notes that all internal control system and risk managements system contain inherent
limitations and no system of internal controls or risk management system could provide absolute
assurance against the occurrence of material errors, poor judgement in decision making, human error,
losses, fraud or other irregularities.

The Board will continue its risk assessment process, which is an on-going process, with a view to
improving the Company's internal control system.

Information in relation to the risks arising from the Group's financial operations is disclosed in the notes
to the accompanying audited financial statements on pages 135 to 144.

Audit Committee

Principle 10: The Board has an Audit Committee which discharges its duties objectively.

Provision 10.1

The AC duties is to perform the following functions:

° review the financial and operating results and accounting policies;
° review the effectiveness and adequacy of internal accounting and financial control procedures;
° review the audit plans of the internal auditors and external auditors and evaluates their overall

effectiveness through regular meetings with each group of internal auditors and external auditors;

° evaluate the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management system and internal control
systems of the Group, including financial, operational, compliance and information technology
controls, by reviewing written reports from the internal auditors and external auditors, and the
Management's responses and actions to correct any deficiencies;
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° review the quarterly and annual financial statements and results announcements and the external
auditor’s report before submission to the Board for approval, focusing in particular on changes
in accounting policies and practices, major risk areas, significant adjustments resulting from the
audit, compliance with accounting standards and compliance with the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST
and any other relevant statutory or regulatory requirements;

° ensure co-ordination between the external auditors and the Management, and review the co-
operation given by the Company’s officers to the external auditors and discuss problems and
concerns, if any, arising from the interim and final audits, and any other matters which the
auditors may wish to discuss (without the presence of the Management, where necessary);

° review and discuss with the external auditors and internal auditors any suspected fraud or
irregularity, or suspected infringement of any relevant laws, rules or regulations, which has or
is likely to have a material impact on the Group's operating results or financial position, and the
Management's response;

° review and evaluate the independence and performance of the external auditors and to consider
their appointment, remuneration and re-appointment;

° review interested person transactions to ensure that they are on normal commercial terms
and will not be prejudicial to the interests of the Company or its minority shareholders; review
potential conflicts of interest;

° review the key financial risk areas, with a view to providing independent oversight on the Group's
financial reporting, the outcome of such review to be disclosed in the annual reports or if the
findings are material, immediately announced via SGXNet;

° undertake such other reviews and projects as may be requested by the Board and report to the
Board its findings from time to time on matters arising and requiring the attention of the AC;

° review arrangements by which our staff may, in confidence, raise concerns about possible
improprieties in matters of financial reporting or other matters, and ensuring that arrangements
are in place for the independent investigations of such matter and for appropriate follow-up; and

° generally undertake such other functions and duties as may be required by the legislation,
regulations or the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST, or by such amendments as may be made thereto
from time to time.

The AC also monitors proposed changes in accounting policies, reviews internal audit functions and
discusses the accounting implications of major transactions. In addition, the AC advises the Board
regarding the adequacy and the effectiveness of the Group's internal controls and risk management
system and the contents and presentation of reports.

The AC has full access to and co-operation of the Management and external auditors and internal
auditors. The AC also has the discretion to invite any Director and key management personnel to attend
AC meetings. The AC has adequate resources to enable it to discharge its responsibilities properly. The
internal auditors and external auditors have unrestricted access to the AC. Both the external auditors
and internal auditors report directly to the AC in respect of their findings and recommendations for
improvements within the Group.

The AC is kept abreast with changes to accounting standards and issues which have a direct impact on
financial statements through attendance at seminars and/or briefings delivered by the Management or
external auditors.
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The external auditors, during their course of external audit, will evaluate the effectiveness and adequacy
of the Group’s internal controls and report to the AC, together with their recommendations for
improvements on material weakness and non-compliance of the Group’s internal controls.

The breakdown of fees paid in total for audit and non-audit fees services for FY2020 is disclosed in the
notes to the accompanying audited financial statements on page 126.

The AC, having reviewed the scope and value of non-audit services provided by the external auditors,
which comprise due diligence services, is satisfied that the nature and extent of such services will not
prejudice and affect the independence and objectivity of the external auditors of the Company, Messrs
Foo Kon Tan LLP.

The AC will undertake a review of the scope of services provided by the external auditors, the
independence and the objectivity of the external auditors on annual basis. Messrs Foo Kon Tan LLP, the
external auditors of the Company, has confirmed that they are a Public Accounting Firm registered with
ACRA and provided confirmation of their independence to the AC. The AC had assessed the external
auditors based on factors such as performance, adequacy of resources and experience of their audit
engagement partner and auditing team assigned to the Group, the size and complexity of the Group's
audit. Accordingly, the AC is satisfied that Rule 712 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST is complied with
and has recommended to the Board the nomination of Messrs Foo Kon Tan LLP for re-appointment as
auditors at the forthcoming AGM of the Company.

The Company has complied with Listing Rule 715 as the Company and its subsidiaries are audited by
Foo Kon Tan LLP (the “Group Auditors”) for consolidation purposes. Group Auditors as auditors of the
Company is responsible for the performance of the audit of the Group and for issuing an auditor’s report
for the Group that is appropriate in the circumstances. The auditing standards do not allow the Group
Auditors in its auditor’'s report to refer to a component auditor (or the auditors of the subsidiaries of the
Group) unless required by law or regulations.

In July 2010, the Singapore Exchange Limited and Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority had
launched the “Guidance to Audit Committees on Evaluation of Quality of Work Performed by External
Auditors” which aims to facilitate the AC in evaluating the external auditors. Accordingly, the AC had
evaluated the performance of the external auditors based on the key indicators of audit quality set out in
the guidance.

In line with the recommendation by ACRA, Monetary Authority of Singapore and the SGX-ST that the
AC can help to improve transparency and enhance the quality of corporate reporting by providing a
commentary on key audit matters (“"KAM"), the AC together with the Management had considered the
KAM presented by the external auditors. The AC reviewed the KAM and concurred and agreed with
the external auditors and Management on their assessment, judgements and estimates on the KAM
reported by the external auditors.

The AC had reviewed, approved and implemented a Whistle Blowing Policy which provides well-defined
and accessible channels in the Group through which employees of the Group may, in confidence, raise
concerns about possible improprieties in the matter of financial reporting or other matters within the
Group. The policy includes arrangements for an independent investigation and appropriate follow-up of
such matters. Details of the policy and arrangements have been made available to the employees. The
AC reported that there was no report received through the whistle-blowing mechanism during FY2020.

The AC had reviewed the Company'’s key financial risk areas and noted that apart from the exchange rate
differences, the Group has not entered into any financial contracts which will give rise to financial risks.
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Each member of the AC shall abstain from reviewing and voting any recommendation or any resolutions
in relation to matters concerning him or her to be deliberated by the AC, if any, except for providing
information and documents specifically requested by the AC to assist it in its deliberations.

The AC has explicit authority to investigate any matter within its terms of reference. The AC has, within
its terms of reference, the authority to obtain independent professional advice at the Company's
expense as and when the need arises in furtherance of their duties and responsibilities.

Provision 10.2

The AC comprises two (2) Independent Directors and one (1) Non-Executive Director, the majority
of whom, including the Chairman of AC, are considered independent pursuant to the definition of
independence of the Code.

The composition of the AC is:

Mr Chang Feng-chang Chairman
Mr Chua Ser Miang Member
Ms Goi Lang Ling Member

The Board considers that the members of the AC are appropriately qualified to fulfill their responsibilities
as the members bring with them invaluable managerial and professional expertise in the financial, legal
and industry domain.

Provision 10.3

None of the AC members is a former partner or director of the Company’s existing auditing firm or
auditing corporation within a period of two years commencing on the date of his/her ceasing to be
partner of the auditing firm or a director of the auditing corporation; and in any case, a person who has
any financial interest in the auditing firm or auditing corporation.

Provision 10.4

The AC will approve the appointment, removal, evaluation and compensation of the outsourced internal
auditors. The Company has outsourced its internal audit functions of the Group to Crowe Horwath First
Trust Risk Advisory Pte. Ltd., to perform the review and the test of controls of the Group’s processes and
procedures. The internal auditors reports directly to the AC on internal audit matters.

The internal auditors are responsible for evaluating reliability, adequacy and effectiveness of the internal
controls and risk management processes of the Group, assisting the AC in the review of interested
person transactions (if any) and ensuring that the internal controls of the Group are adequate for proper
recording of transactions and safeguarding the assets of the Group. The internal auditors will also carry
out major internal control checks and compliance tests as instructed by the AC. The internal auditors has
unfettered access to have the company’'s documents, records, properties and personnel, including the
AC, and has appropriate standing within the company

The AC will review the internal auditors’ reports and ensure that there are adequate and effective
internal controls within the Group. The AC, on an annual basis, will assess adequacy and effectiveness
of the internal audit function by examining the scope of the internal audit work, the qualification and
independence of internal auditors, the internal auditors’ reports and ensure that the internal auditors
possessing relevant qualifications and experience to adequately perform its functions.
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The AC will ensure that the internal auditors meet or exceed the standards set by recognised
professional bodies including the Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing set
by the Institute of Internal Auditors. The AC is satisfied that the outsourced internal audit function is
independent, adequately resourced, effective and has the appropriate standing within the Group.
Provision 10.5

The AC meets with the Group's external auditors and internal auditors, without the presence of the
Management at least annually.

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES

Shareholder Rights and Conduct of General Meetings

Principle 11: The company treats all shareholders fairly and equitably in order to enable them to
exercise shareholders’ rights and have the opportunity to communicate their views
on matters daffecting the company. The company gives shareholders a balanced and
understandable assessment of its performance, position and prospects.

The Company does not practise selective disclosure. In line with the continuous obligations of the
Company under the SGX-ST Listing Manual and the Companies Act, Chapter 50, the Board's policy is that
all shareholders should equally and on a timely basis be informed of all major developments that impact
the Group via SGXNet.

Provision11.1

The shareholders are encouraged to attend the Company's general meetings to ensure a high level of
accountability and to stay informed of the Group’s strategies and growth plans. Notice of the general
meeting is dispatched to shareholders, together with explanatory notes or a circular on items of special
businesses (if necessary), at least 14 clear calendar days before the meeting. The Company welcomes the
views of the shareholders on matters concerning the Group and encourages shareholders’ participation
at general meetings.

Shareholders are informed of general meetings through the announcement released to the SGXNet
and notices contained in the Annual Report or circulars sent to all shareholders. These notices are also
advertised in a national newspaper. All shareholders are entitled to attend the general meetings and are
provided the opportunity to participate in the general meetings.

In accordance with the Constitution of the Company, a shareholder may appoint not more than two
(2) proxies to attend and vote in his or her stead at a general meeting. All shareholders are allowed to
vote in person or by proxy. Central Provident Fund (“CPF") investors may attend general meetings as
observers provided they have registered to do so with CPF Approved Nominees within the time frame
specified. The Company's Constitution does not include the nominee or custodial services to appoint
more than two proxies. The Company currently does not provide for voting in absentia.

On 3 January 2016, the legislation was amended, among other things, to allow certain members, defined
as “Relevant Intermediary” to attend and participate in general meetings without being constrained by
the two-proxy requirement. Relevant intermediary includes corporations holding licenses in providing
nominee and custodial services and CPF Board which purchase shares on behalf of the CPF investors.
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Provision 11.2

Each item of special business appeared on the notice of the general meeting is accompanied, where
appropriate, by an explanation for the proposed resolution. Separate resolutions on each distinctive
issue are proposed at general meetings for shareholders’ approval.

Provision 11.3

The Chairman of the AC, NC, and RC of the Company are usually available at general meetings to address
questions from the shareholders. All Directors will endeavour to be present at the Company's general
meetings of Shareholders to address Shareholders’ queries. The external auditors of the Company will
also be present to address any relevant queries in relation to the conduct of audit and auditors' report
by the shareholders during general meetings.

Provision 11.4

The Company has not amended its Constitution to provide for absentia voting methods. Voting in
absentia and by electronic mail may only be possible following careful study to ensure that integrity of
the information and authentication of shareholders' identities through the web are not compromised.

Provision 11.5

The Company Secretary prepares minutes of general meetings relating to the agenda of the meetings,
and makes these minutes, subsequently approved by the Board, available to shareholders during office
hours at its registered office. Minutes of general meetings shall only include substantial and relevant
comments or queries from shareholders relating to the agenda of the meeting and responses from the
Board, the Management, the external auditors and other relevant professionals.

The Company does not publish minutes of general meetings of shareholders on its corporate website
as contemplated by the 2018 Code. There are potential adverse implications, including commercial and
legal implications, for the Company if the minutes of general meetings are published to the public at
large (outside the confines of a shareholders’ meeting). The Company is of the view that its position is
consistent with the intent of Principle 11 as shareholders have a right to attend general meetings either
in person or by proxy, where they may exercise their right to speak and vote and have the opportunity
to communicate their views on various matters affecting the Company. Further, shareholders, including
those who did not attend the relevant general meeting, have a statutory right to be furnished copies
of minutes of general meetings in accordance with Section 189 of the Companies Act. The Company
is therefore of the view that, consistent with the intent of Principle 11, as between themselves,
shareholders are treated fairly and equitably by the Company.

For greater transparency, the Company has instituted poll voting and all resolutions are put to vote by
poll at its AGMs. Announcement of the detailed results of the number of votes cast for and against each
resolution and the respective percentages will also be made on the same day.

Provision 11.6

The Company currently does not have any formal fixed dividend policy. The Company may declare a
final dividend for shareholders’ approval in a general meeting but no dividend or distribution shall be
declared in excess of the amount recommended by the Directors. The Directors may also from time
to time declare a dividend or other distribution. The declaration and payment of dividends will be
determined at the sole discretion of the Directors, and will depend upon the Group's operating results,
financial conditions, other cash requirements including capital expenditures, the terms of the borrowing
arrangements (if any), and other factors deemed relevant by the Directors. No dividend has been
declared and recommended for FY2020 in view of the marginal profit for the year and the Company's
need for working capital.

YAMADA GREEN RESOURCES LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2020

o



Q

STATEMENT OF
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Engagement with Shareholders

Principle 12: The company communicates regularly with its shareholders and facilitates the
participation of shareholders during general meetings and other dialogues to allow
shareholders to communicate their views on various matters affecting the company.

Provision 12.1

The Company believes that a high standard of disclosure is the key to raise the level of corporate
governance and the level of shareholders’ confidence towards the Group. The quarterly financial
statements, full-year financial statements and news releases are published via SGXNet. The major
development of the Group's activities is also disseminated via SGXNet.

The Company does not practice selective disclosure. Price-sensitive information is publicly released and
financial statements and annual reports or circulars are announced or issued within the mandatory
period.

The annual reports or circulars will be disseminated to every shareholder of the Company prior to the
general meeting. The notice of the general meeting is advertised in a major newspaper and released via
SGXNet.

The essential information of the Group is available on the Company's website at
http://www.yamada-green.com pursuant to which shareholders could access to, inter alia, corporate
announcements, press releases and the latest financial statements disclosed by the Company via
SGXNet.

Provisions 12.2 and 12.3

Presently, the Company does not have an investor policy or protocol in place nor a dedicated investor
relations team. However, shareholders may contact the Company with questions or provide feedback to
the Company's registered address at 7 Temasek Boulevard #32-01 Suntec Tower One Singapore 038987
and the Company may respond to such questions. The Company will assess the need to establish an
investor policy or protocol or investor relations team as and when it deems necessary.

MANAGEMENT STAKEHOLDERS RELATIONSHIPS

Engagement with Stakeholders

Principle 13: The Board adopts an inclusive approach by considering and balancing the needs and
interests of material stakeholders, as part of its overall responsibility to ensure that the
best interests of the company are served.

Provisions 13.1 and 13.2

The Company recognised the vitality on stakeholders engagement for the Company's long term
sustainability. The Company has arrangements in place to identify and engage with its material
stakeholder groups and to manage its relationships with such groups. The Company engages with key
stakeholders to determine the issues that are most relevant to them and the Group and to align the
Company's sustainable approach with their expectations.
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The Company has identified five stakeholders’ groups, namely, the employees, customers, shareholders
and investors, government and regulators, and suppliers and business partners. The Company's
approach to the engagement with key stakeholders and rationale were disclosed in the Company'’s
Sustainability Report for FY2019, where the Company would continue to monitor and improve to ensure
the best interest of the Company.

Provision 13.3

The Company maintains a current corporate website to communicate and engage with stakeholders. The
Company's website can be accessed at http://www.yamada-green.com.

DEALINGS IN SECURITIES

The Group has adopted its own Internal Compliance Code on Dealing in Securities by setting out
regulations with regard to dealings in the Company’s securities by its Directors and officers, that is
modelled, with some modifications, pursuant to Rule 1207(19) of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST. The
Group's Internal Compliance Code on Dealing in Securities provides guidance for Directors and officers
on their dealings in the Company's securities.

The Group’s Internal Compliance Code on dealing in securities prohibits the Directors and officers from
dealing in the Company's securities during specific period, pursuant to which, they are advised not to
deal in the Company's securities during the period commencing two (2) weeks before the announcement
of the Company’s financial statements for each of the first three quarters of its financial year and one
(1) month before the announcement of the Company'’s full-year financial statements and ending on the
release date of the announcement of the Company's financial statements on the SGX-ST.

In addition, the Company, Directors, and officers are expected to observe insider trading laws at all times
including when they are in possession of unpublished price-sensitive information of the Group during
the permitted trading period. They are also discouraged from dealing in the Company’'s shares on short
term consideration.

INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS

The Company does not have a general mandate from shareholders for interested person transactions.
Nevertheless, the Company has established internal control procedures to ensure any transaction
entered into with interested persons are properly reviewed and approved by the AC with a view to
ensuring transactions conducted at arm'’s length basis, on normal commercial terms and will not be
prejudicial to the interests of the Company and its minority shareholders.

There were no interested person transactions entered into between the Group and any of its interested
persons defined under Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST for FY2020.

MATERIAL CONTRACTS

Save for those material contracts disclosed in the financial statements and on announcements
via SGXNet, there were no any other material contracts entered into by the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, involving the interests of the CEO, Director or controlling shareholder of the Company
during FY2020.
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The directors are pleased to submit this annual report to the members of the Company together with
the audited financial statements for the financial year ended 30 June 2020.

In the opinion of the directors,

(@)  the accompanying financial statements of the Company and of the Group are drawn up so as to
give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company and of the Group as at 30 June
2020 and the financial performance, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group for the year
ended on that date in accordance with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50
and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (International); and

(b) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be
able to pay its debts as and when they fall due.

The Board of Directors has, on the date of this statement, authorised these financial statements for
issue.

Directors
The directors of the Company in office at the date of this statement are as follows:

Chen Qiuhai (Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer)
Chang Feng-chang (Independent Non-Executive Chairman)
Chua Ser Miang (Lead Independent director)

Goi Lang Ling (Non-Executive director)

Xie Yimin (Executive director)

Directors’ interests

According to the Register of Directors’ Shareholdings kept by the Company under Section 164 of the
Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50, particulars of interests of the directors who held office at the end
of the financial year in the shares or debentures of the Company and its related corporations are as
follows:

Number of ordinary shares

Holdings registered in Holdings in which director is

the name of director deemed to have an interest
The Company - As at As at As at As at
Yamada Green Resources Limited 1.7.2019 30.6.2020 1.7.2019 30.6.2020
Chen Qiuhai - - 62,931,015 62,931,015
Chang Feng-chang - - 270,000 270,000

By virtue of the provisions of Section 7 of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50, Chen Qiuhai is deemed
to have interests in all of the subsidiaries of the Company at the beginning and at the end of the financial
year.

There are no changes to the above shareholdings as at 21 July 2020.
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Directors’ interests (Cont'd)

Share option scheme

At an Extraordinary General Meeting of the Company held on 29 April 2011, the shareholders
approved the Yamada Green Resources Employee Share Option (the “Scheme”) and Yamada Green
Resources Performance Share Plan (the “Plan”). The Scheme and the Plan are administered by the
Company’s Remuneration Committee, or such other committee comprising Directors of the Company
duly authorised and appointed by the board of directors to administer the Scheme and the Plan (the
“Committee”).

The principal features of the Scheme and the Plan are described below.
The Scheme
Under the Scheme,

- the executive directors and employees of the Group are eligible to participate in the Scheme.
Executive directors and employees who are also controlling shareholders or their associates are
not eligible to participate in the Scheme;

- the selection of, and the actual number of new ordinary shares to be offered under the Scheme
to participants of the Scheme will be determined by the Committee, which will take into account
of criteria such as employee's rank, performance, years of service and potential for future
development, and contribution to the success and development of the Group;

- the Company has the flexibility to grant options at the subscription prices (i) at the market price of
a share at the time of grant; and/or (ii) at an upfront discount of no more than 20% discount to the
market price of a share at the time of grant;

- options granted with the subscription price set at or above the market price shall only be
exercisable, in whole or in part, by a participant after the first anniversary of the date of offer of
that option and in accordance with the vesting period and the conditions (if any) to be determined
by the Committee on the date of offer of the relevant options;

- options granted with the subscription price set at a discount to the market price shall only be
exercisable, in whole or in part, by a participant after the second anniversary of the date of offer of
that option and in accordance with the vesting period and the conditions (if any) to be determined
by the Committee on the date of offer of the relevant options; and

- provided always that all options shall be exercised before the fifth anniversary of the relevant date
of offer of the option, or such earlier date as may be determined by the Committee, failing which
all unexercised options shall immediately lapse and become null and void.

The Plan
Under the Plan,

- awards given to a particular employee will be determined at the discretion of the Committee, who
will take into account of factors such as the selected employee’s capability, scope of responsibility,
skill and vulnerability to leaving the employment of the Group;

- the Committee may also set specific criteria and performance targets for each of its business
units, taking into account of factors such as (i) the Company’s and the Group's business goals and
directions for each financial year; (ii) the selected employee’s actual job scope and responsibilities;
and (iii) the prevailing economic conditions;
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Directors’ interests (Cont'd)

Share option scheme (Cont'd)
The Plan (Cont'd)

- the selection of an employee and the number of shares which are the subject of each award to be
granted to an employee in accordance with the Plan shall be determined by the Committee, which
shall take into account criteria such as the selected employee’s rank, job performance, years of
service and potential for future development, contribution to the success and development of the
Group and the extent of effort required to achieve the performance target within the performance
period;

- the Committee shall have absolute discretion to decide whether a person who is participating in
the Plan shall be eligible to participate in any other share option scheme or share award scheme
implemented by the Company or any other company within the Group;

- new shares allotted and issued on the release of an award shall rank in full for all entitlements,
including dividends or other distributions declared or recommended in respect of the then existing
shares, the record date for which is on or after the relevant vesting date, and shall in all other
respects rank pari passu with other existing shares then in issue; and

- the “aggregate market price” of the shares to be paid to a selected employee in lieu of allotment or
transfer, shall be calculated in accordance with the following formula:-

A=BxC
Where:-

A is the aggregate market price of the shares to be paid to the selected employee in lieu of all or
some of the shares to be issued or transferred upon the release of an award;

B is the market price of each share; and

C is such number of shares to be issued or transferred to a selected employee upon the release of
an award in accordance with the rules of the Plan.

- the aggregate number of shares to be issued pursuant to the Scheme and the Plan granted on any
date, when added to the number of shares issued and/or issuable under the scheme or such other
share-based incentive plans of the Company, shall not exceed fifteen per cent (15%) of the total
number of issued shares of the Company (excluding treasury shares) on the day preceding that
date.

The Scheme and the Plan will continue in operation, for a maximum duration of 10 years commencing
from its adoption by shareholders on 29 April 2011.
Share options

No options were granted during the financial year to take up unissued shares of the Company or any
subsidiaries.

No shares were issued during the financial year to which this report relates by virtue of the exercise of
the options to take up unissued shares of the Company or any subsidiaries.

There were no unissued shares of the Company under option at the end of the financial year.
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Audit committee
The Audit Committee at the end of the financial year comprises the following members:

Chang Feng-chang (Chairman)
Chua Ser Miang
Goi Lang Ling

All members of the Audit Committee are non-executive directors.

The Audit Committee performs the functions set out in Section 201B (5) of the Singapore Companies Act,
Cap. 50, the SGX Listing Manual and the Code of Corporate Governance. In performing those functions,
the committee reviewed the following:

(i) overall scope of the external audit and the assistance given by the Company’'s officers to the
auditors. It met with the Company's external auditor to discuss the results of their respective
examinations;

(i)  the audit plan of the Company's independent auditor for the statutory audit;

(i)  the statement of financial position of the Company and the consolidated financial statements of
the Group for the financial year ended 30 June 2020 as well as the independent auditor's report
thereon;

(iv)  met with the external auditor, other committees and management in separate executive sessions
to discuss any matters that these groups believe should be discussed privately with the Audit
Committee;

(v)  reviewed legal and regulatory matters that may have a material impact on the financial statements,
related compliance policies and programmes and any reports received from regulators;

(vi)  reviewed the cost effectiveness and the independence and objectivity of the external auditor;
(vii) reviewed the nature and extent of non-audit services provided by the external auditor;

(viii) recommended to the Board of Directors the external auditor to be nominated, approved the
compensation of the external auditor and reviewed the scope and results of the audit;

(ix) reported actions and minutes of the Audit Committee to the Board of Directors with such
recommendations as the Audit Committee considered appropriate; and

(x) interested person transactions (as defined in Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore
Exchange).

The Board of Directors are in the process of commissioning an independent internal control review
pending the review of the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee has full access to management and is given the resources required for it to
discharge its functions. It has full authority and the discretion to invite any director or executive officer to
attend its meetings. The Audit Committee also recommends the appointment of the external auditor and
reviews the level of audit and non-audit fees.

The Audit Committee is satisfied with the independence and objectivity of the external auditor and
has recommended to the Board of Directors that the auditor, Foo Kon Tan LLP, be nominated for re-
appointment as auditor at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company.
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Audit committee (Cont'd)
Full details regarding the Audit Committee are provided in the Corporate Governance Report.

In appointing our auditors for the Company and its subsidiaries, the directors have complied with Rules
712 and 715 of the SGX Listing Manual.

Independent auditor

The independent auditor, Foo Kon Tan LLP, Public Accountants and Chartered Accountants, has
expressed its willingness to accept re-appointment.

Other information required by the SGX-ST

Material information

Apart from the Service Agreement between a director and the Company, there is no material contract
to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries, is a party which involve directors' interests subsisted or
have been entered into during the financial year ended 30 June 2020.

Interested person transactions

There was no interested person transaction as defined in Chapter 9 of the SGX-ST Listing Manual
conducted during the financial year except as disclosed under “Interested Person Transactions” in the
“Statement of Corporate Governance” section of the annual report and on Note 29 to the accompanying
financial statements.

On behalf of the Directors

CHEN QIUHAI

CHANG FENG-CHANG

Dated: 23 September 2020
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AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Members of Yamada Green Resources Limited
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Yamada Green Resources Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position of the
Group and the statement of financial position of the Company as at 30 June 2020, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows of the Group for the year then ended, and notes to the
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement
of financial position of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of
the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards
(International) (“SFRS(l)") so as to give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group and the financial position of the Company as at 30 June 2020 and of the consolidated financial
performance, consolidated changes in equity and consolidated cash flows of the Group for the year
ended on that date.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (“SSA”). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority ("“ACRA") Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for
Public Accountants and Accounting Entities (“ACRA Code") together with the ethical requirements that
are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our
audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of
our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, we do not provide
a separate opinion on these matters.
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To the Members of Yamada Green Resources Limited

Key Audit Matters (Cont'd)

Key Audit Matter
No. 1

Valuation of investment properties and right-of-use assets measured at fair
value (refer to Notes 2(d), 3, 5 and 8 to the financial statements)

The investment properties and right-of-use assets consisting of leasehold
buildings and land use rights are measured at fair value.

The valuations were carried out by independent valuers, Colliers International
Consultancy & Valuation (Singapore) Pte. Ltd. and Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate
Appraisal and Advisory Limited (the “Independent Valuers”).

Considering the implications of higher levels of estimation uncertainty and
judgement required due to the changes in market and economic conditions
arising from the COVID-19 pandemic and the significant judgments and
assumptions made by management, we have identified the valuation of the
investment properties and right-of-use assets measured at fair value as a Key
Audit Matter.

How the Key
Audit Matter was
addressed in our
audit

Our audit procedures included, among others:

a) Assessed the competency, capability and objectivity of the Independent
Valuers. We also read the terms of engagement of the Independent Valuers
with the Group to determine whether there were any matters that might
have affected their objectivity or limited the scope of their work;

b) Engaged our auditor expert to review the valuation methodologies used
by the Independent Valuers appointed by the management including
comparison of the valuation against those applied by other valuers for
similar property type. We held discussions with the Independent Valuers
and the auditor expert and challenged the key assumptions taking into
consideration of the possible implications brought about by COVID 19
pandemic such as by adjusting the rental rate and vacancy rate among
other factors;

C) Evaluated the competency, capability, and objectivity of the auditor expert;
and

d)  Considered the adequacy of the disclosures in the financial statements, in
describing the inherent degree of subjectivity and key assumptions in the
estimates.
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To the Members of Yamada Green Resources Limited

Key Audit Matters (Cont'd)

Key Audit Matter
No. 2

Revenue recognition (refer to Notes 2(d), 3, 22 and 23 to the financial
statements)

The Group’s main revenue is from the manufacture and sale of goods from its
food processing operations and generating rental income from investment
properties to third parties. Revenue is recognised when the Group has satisfied a
performance obligation by transferring a good or service to the customer and the
customer has obtained control of that asset.

Revenue derived from the sales of goods is recognised at a point in time when
the control over the goods have passed to the buyer, which usually takes place
when the goods are either shipped to customers for export sales based on
contractual terms and/or when goods are delivered to and/or collected by buyers
in the case of domestic sales. Revenue from the lease of investment properties to
third parties is recognised over time based on contractual terms.

Owing to the presumption in the Singapore Standard on Auditing that there is
a presumed risk of fraud in revenue recognition and in the light of COVID-19
situation which the Group is exposed to and whereby COVID-19 is still developing
and evolving in the People’s Republic of China and around the world in which the
Group operates in, we have considered the timing of revenue recognition to be a
Key Audit Matter.

How the Key
Audit Matter was
addressed in our
audit

Our audit procedures included, among others:
a) Obtained an understanding of the revenue and receipts processes;

b) Reviewed and evaluated the appropriateness of accounting policy for
revenue recognition as to whether the performance obligations are
satisfied at a point in time or over time;

C) Reviewed for consistent application of revenue recognition policy in
relation to the respective revenue streams and the terms and conditions in
the sale agreements;

d) Performed a walkthrough of the revenue and receivable cycle, assessed
the design and implementation effectiveness of key controls identified,
and tested the operating effectiveness of these key controls against
source documentation such as approval of sales orders and sales
invoices, customs clearance documentation, bill of lading, receipt of
acknowledgement of delivery of goods by customers and the recording of
sale transactions on a sample basis;

e) Performed disaggregated revenue analytics including key product sales
and customer base, and gross profit margins analysis to ascertain overall
reasonableness of revenue recognised;

f) Discussed with management on significant variances from prior
corresponding periods;

g) Performed revenue cut-off procedures as at year end;
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To the Members of Yamada Green Resources Limited

Key Audit Matters (Cont'd)

Key Audit Matter
No. 2
(Cont'd)

Revenue recognition (Cont'd)

How the Key
Audit Matter was
addressed in our
audit

(Cont'd)

Our audit procedures included, among others (Cont'd):

h)

)

k)

m)

n)

0)

P)

Q)

Performed substantive analytical procedures and substantive test of
details, where applicable, by tracing to source documentation;

Authenticated sales invoices to the People’'s Republic of China (“PRC") tax
authority website for the PRC subsidiaries of the Group on a sample basis;

Checked to lease agreements to ascertain the existence and accuracy of
rental income recorded on a sample basis;

Performed reasonableness test on rental income in accordance with rental
rate and term;

Reviewed reconciliations of and/or adjustments made to revenue accounts
(e.g. discounts approved by management);

Performed data analytics to identify and tested unusual items and high-
risk items from large populations of revenue accounts for audit testing
purposes;

Performed circularisation (and performed alternative procedures for any
non-replies) to major customers to ascertain the occurrence, accuracy and
completeness of revenue recognised;

Reviewed for large or unusual sales occurring close to accounting year-end;

Reviewed for significant and unusual credit notes issued during the period
and post period-end; and

Reviewed the adequacy of disclosures related to revenue recognition made
in the financial statements.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Directors
Statement section of the annual report but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon, which we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, and the remaining sections
of the annual report, which are expected to be made available to us after that date.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and will not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears

to be materially misstated.
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To the Members of Yamada Green Resources Limited

Other Information (Cont'd)

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of
this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the remaining sections of the annual report, if we conclude that there is a material
misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the matter to the directors and take appropriate
actions in accordance with SSA.

Responsibilities of Management and Directors for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with the provisions of the Act and SFRS(I), and for devising and maintaining a system of
internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded
against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that
they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair financial statements and to
maintain accountability of assets.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors’ responsibilities include overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with SSA will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SSA, we exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

) Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override
of internal control.

) Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.
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To the Members of Yamada Green Resources Limited

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (Cont’'d)

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date
of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities
or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit.
We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company have
been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

Other Matters

Unaccountable balances of RMB 29,349,000 as at 30 June 2017 and 2018 (Note 21)

Our auditor’s report dated 30 September 2019 contained a qualified opinion on the possible extent of
the spill over of the effect on the disclaimer of opinion in FY2017 and FY2018 onto the opening balances
(assets, liabilities and income statement) on the financial statements for the financial year ended 30 June
2019.
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To the Members of Yamada Green Resources Limited

Other Matters (Cont'd)

As fully explained in Note 21 to the financial statements, the effect and impact of the matters arising
in FY2018 and FY2019 have been considered to be dealt with by management in so far as corporate
governance is concerned. Principally, the Company’'s Audit Committee has held discussions with the
management to address the internal controls environment and to observe best practices. This is in
furtherance to the assistance provided by the Group’s legal counsel and internal auditors to address the
relevant regulations and procedures in regard to the business environment and internal controls of the
Group.

The Company's internal auditors have issued their report for the current financial year which showed
that management has addressed the deficiencies previously noted on corporate governance and
internal controls and that there were no significant deficiencies in internal control of the Group noted.
In this regard, the Audit Committee has considered that management has in place a proper internal
control system. The management had informed the Audit Committee and the Board of Directors of the
Company that there were no liabilities incurred in so far as to the spillover effect of matters arising in
fiscal year 2017 and fiscal year 2018. The PRC legal counsel of the Company has also affirmed that there
are no liabilities reported in the course of their notarisation process.

Report made by BDO LLP to the Minister of Finance (“MOF") of Singapore

As fully explained in the 2018 Annual Report, BDO LLP had, on 25 September 2017, informed the Board
that it had made a confidential report to the MOF under Section 207(9A) of the Act on 21 September
2017. As of the date of this report, there is no further development noted.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Chang Fook Kay.

Foo Kon Tan LLP
Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants

Singapore,
23 September 2020
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STATEMENTS OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 30 June 2020

The Company The Group
30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June
2020 2019 2020 2019
Note RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ASSETS
Non-Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment 4 1 2 1,039 63,976
Right-of-use assets 5 - - 48,238 -
Land use rights 6 - - - 18,618
Intangible assets 7 - - 80 70
Investment properties 8 7,364 7,770 230,916 180,698
Investments in subsidiaries 9 149,762 149,762 - -
Investments in associates 10 - - - -
Prepayments 11 - - - -
Deferred tax assets 12 - - - -
157,127 157,534 280,273 263,362
Current Assets
Inventories 13 - - 20,754 23,833
Trade and other receivables 14 146,458 146,595 8,925 25,306
Prepayments 15 87 86 1,928 86
Cash and bank balances 16 149 521 22,364 12,901
146,694 147,202 53,971 62,126
Associates classified as held for sale 17 - - 30,080 39,933
Total assets 303,821 304,736 364,324 365,421
EQUITY
Capital and Reserves
Share capital 18 322,210 322,210 322,210 322,210
Share-based payment reserve 19(a) 2,016 2,016 2,016 2,016
Statutory reserve 19(b) - - 72,449 71,135
Revaluation reserve 19(c) - - 41,740 38,130
Other reserve 19(d) - - 29,349 29,349
Accumulated losses (33,474) (28,912) (168,068) (173,507)
Total equity attributable to
owners of the Company 290,752 295,314 299,696 289,333
LIABILITIES
Non-Current Liabilities
Bank borrowings 20 4,673 5,078 4,673 5,078
Deferred tax liabilities 12 - - 39,214 32,805
4,673 5,078 43,887 37,883
Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables 21 8,002 3,974 18,347 34,835
Bank borrowings 20 394 370 2,394 3,370
8,396 4,344 20,741 38,205
Total liabilities 13,069 9,422 64,628 76,088
Total equity and liabilities 303,821 304,736 364,324 365,421

The annexed notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the financial year ended 30 June 2020

The Group

Revenue
Cost of sales
Gross results

Revenue from rental income from investment properties
Other operating income

Selling and distribution expenses

Administrative expenses

Other operating expenses

Finance costs

Share of loss of associates classified as held for sale
Profit/(Loss) before taxation

Taxation

Net profit/(loss) for the year

Other comprehensive income after tax

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to
profit or loss:

Revaluation of leasehold buildings/land use rights
classified as right-of-use assets/leasehold buildings
in property, plant and equipment measured at fair value

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year
attributable to owners of the Company

Earnings/(Loss) per share:
- Basic
- Diluted

Note

22

23
24
25 (a)
25 (b)
25 ()
25 (d)
10
26
27

25 (e)

28
28

Year ended Year ended

30 June 30 June
2020 2019
RMB'000 RMB'000
75,585 61,358
(62,924) (71,065)
12,661 (9,707)
5,267 5,058
21,251 4,413
(1,039) (1,540)
(16,694) (16,652)
(7,572) (15,880)
(391) (404)
- (309)
13,483 (35,021)
(6,730) 17
6,753 (35,004)
3,610 2,355
10,363 (32,649)
Cents Cents
RMB RMB
3.8 (19.8)
3.8 (19.8)

The annexed notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the financial year ended 30 June 2020

Other Share-

reserve based
Share -non payment Statutory Revaluation Accumulated  Total
Note  capital  distributable  reserve  reserve reserve losses equity

The Group RMB000  RMB000  RMB000 RMB000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
At 1 July 2018 322,210 - 2,016 71,135 35,775 (138,503) 292,633
Loss for the year - - - - - (35,004) (35,004)
Other comprehensive

income for the year - - - - 2,355 - 2,355
Total comprehensive

loss for the year - - - - 2,355 (35,004) (32,649
Transfer to other reserve 19(d) - 29,349 - - - - 29,349
At 30 June 2019 322,210 29,349 2016 71,135 38,130 (173,507) 289,333
Profit for the year - - - - - 6,753 6,753
Other comprehensive

income for the year - - - - 3,610 - 3,610
Total comprehensive

income for the year - - - - 3,610 6,753 10,363
Transfer to statutory reserve 19(b) - - - 1,314 - (1,314) -
At 30 June 2020 322,210 29,349 2,016 72,449 41,740 (168,068) 299,696

The annexed notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

For the financial year ended 30 June 2020

Year ended Year ended

30 June 30 June
2020 2019
The Group Note RMB'000 RMB'000

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Profit/(Loss) before taxation 13,483 (35,021)
Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 4 172 4,391
Amortisation/depreciation of right-of-use assets 5 3,316 -
Amortisation of land use rights 6 - 542
Amortisation of intangible assets 7 23 12
Exchange gain (245) (306)
Fair value (gain)/loss on investment properties 8 (14,069) 1,259
Impairment loss of investments in associates classified

as held for sale 17 - 3,181
Impairment of land use rights 6 - 3,771
Impairment of right-of-use assets 5 6,962 -
Interest expense 25(d) 391 404
Interest income 24 (58) (8)
Property, plant and equipment written off 4 27 1
Share of loss of associates 10 - 309
Write back of inventories allowance (1,274) -
Write-down of inventories to net realisable value 25(c) - 1,274
Operating cash flows before working capital changes 8,728 (20,191)
Decrease in inventories 4,353 2,712
Decrease in trade and other receivables and prepayments 14,584 29,554
Decrease in trade and other payables (Note A) (16,488) (6,373)
Cash generated from operations 11,177 5,702
Income tax paid (154) (110)
Interest received 58 8
Net cash generated from operating activities 11,081 5,600
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 4 (9,911) (2,654)
Acquisition of intangible assets 7 (33) (48)
Proceeds from disposal of investment in associates held for sale 17 9,853 -
Net cash used in investing activities 91) (2,702)
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Proceeds from bank borrowings (Note B) 4,000 3,670
Repayment of bank borrowings - principal (Note B) (5,376) (4,340)
Repayment of bank borrowings - interest (Note B) 25(d) (391) (404)
Net cash used in financing activities (1,767) (1,074)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 9,223 1,824
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 12,901 10,540
Effect on foreign exchange of rate changes on cash

and cash equivalents 240 537
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 16 22,364 12,901

The annexed notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

For the financial year ended 30 June 2020

Note A

During the year ended 30 June 2019, the decrease in cash flows relating to trade and other payables
of RMB 6,373,000 from operating activities was arrived at after deducting the unaccountable balances
of RMB 29,349,000 that were transferred to a non-distributable reserve in equity. Refer to Note 21 for
further details.

Note B

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

The following is the disclosures of the reconciliation of items for which cash flows have been, or would
be, classified as financing activities, excluding equity items:

Year ended Year ended

30 June 30 June
2020 2019

RMB’000 RMB'000

Bank borrowings (Note 20)

At beginning of year 8,448 8,887
Cash flow

Additions 4,000 3,670
Interest expenses 391 404
Repayments (5,767) (4,744)
- Repayment of principal (5,376) (4,340)
- Repayment of interest (391) (404)

Non-cash movement

Exchange translation (5) 231

At end of year 7,067 8,448

The annexed notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with these financial statements.
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2(a)

NOTES TO
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 30 June 2020

General information

The financial statements of the Company and of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2020 were
authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the directors on the date of the Directors’
Statement.

The Company was incorporated in Singapore on 8 February 2010 as a private limited company
under the name Yamada Green Resources Pte. Ltd. On 28 September 2010, the Company was
converted into a public company and assumed the present name of Yamada Green Resources
Limited. The Company was listed on the SGX-ST on 8 October 2010.

With effect from 22 January 2018, the registered office of the Company is located at 7 Temasek
Boulevard #43-04 Suntec Tower One, Singapore 038987. The principal place of business is at No.
2 Dongling Road, Minhou Economic and Technological Development Zone, Ganzhe Street Minhou
County, Fuzhou City, Fujian Province, the People’s Republic of China (“PRC").

The principal activity of the Company is that of an investment holding company. The principal
activities of the subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 9 to the financial statements.

Basis of preparation

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting Standards
(International) (“SFRS(1)") under the historical cost convention, except as disclosed in the accounting
policies below.

The financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB") which is the Company’s functional
currency. All financial information presented in RMB has been rounded to the nearest thousand
(“RMB’'000") unless otherwise stated.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with SFRS(I) requires management to
exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. It also requires
the use of certain critical accounting estimates and assumptions. The areas involving a higher
degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to
the financial statements are disclosed in Note 2(d).

2(b) Adoption of new and revised SFRS(l) effective for the current financial year

On 1 July 2019, the Group and the Company have adopted all the new and revised SFRS(l)s, SFRS(I)
interpretations (“SFRS(I) INT”) and amendments to SFRS(I), effective for the current financial year
that are relevant to them. The adoption of these new and revised SFRS(I) pronouncements did
not result in significant changes to the Group's and the Company's accounting policies and has
no material effect on the amounts or the disclosures reported for the current or prior reporting
periods, except as discussed below:

Effective date
(Annual periods

Reference Description beginning on or after)
SFRS(l) 16 Leases 1 January 2019
Amendments to SFRS(1) 9 Prepayment Features with Negative 1 January 2019

Compensation
SFRS(I) INT 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments 1 January 2019

YAMADA GREEN RESOURCES LIMITED
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QA

NOTES TO
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 30 June 2020

2(b) Adoption of new and revised SFRS(I) effective for the current financial year
(Cont'd)

SFRS(I) 16 Leases

SFRS(l) 16 Leases supersedes SFRS(I) 1-17 Leases, SFRS(I) INT 4 Determining whether an Arrangement
contains a Lease, SFRS(l) INT 1-15 Operating Leases - Incentives and SFRS(l) INT 1-27 Evaluating the
Substance of Transactions involving the Legal Form of a Lease, and pronounces new or amended
requirements with respect to lease accounting. For lessee accounting, SFRS(l) 16 introduces
significant changes by removing the distinction between operating and finance lease and requiring
the recognition of a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at commencement for all leases, except
for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets when such recognition exemptions are
adopted. For lessor accounting, the requirements have remained largely unchanged. The impact
of the adoption of SFRS(I) 16 on the Group's and the Company's financial statements are discussed
below.

The date of initial application of SFRS(l) 16 for the Group is 1 July 2019. The Group has elected to
transition to SFRS(I) 16 using the modified retrospective approach which requires the Group to
recognise the cumulative effect of initially applying SFRS(l) 16 as an adjustment to the opening
balance of retained earnings at the date of initial application, without restatement of comparatives
under SFRS(I) 1-17.

(a) Definition of a lease

The new definition of a lease under SFRS(l) 16 mainly relates to the concept of ‘control’
that determines whether a contract contains a lease on the basis of whether the customer
has the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration, which is in contrast to the concept of ‘risks and rewards’ under SFRS(I) 1-17.

The Group has elected to apply the practical expedient available on transition to SFRS(I)
16 not to reassess whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. Accordingly, the superseded
definition of a lease under SFRS(I) 1-17 continues to be applied to those leases entered into,
or modified, before 1 July 2019, and the Group applies the new definition of a lease and
related guidance set out in SFRS(I) 16 only to those lease contracts entered into, or modified,
on or after 1 July 2019. After the transition to SFRS(I) 16, the Group shall reassess whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease only if the terms and conditions of the contract are changed.

The new requirements for identifying a lease under SFRS(l) 16 do not change significantly the
scope of contracts that will meet the definition of a lease for the Group.

(b) Lessee accounting

(i) Former operating leases

Before the adoption of SFRS(I) 16, the Group’s non-cancellable operating lease
payments in future reporting periods for a factory, were not recognised as liabilities
in the statement of financial position but were disclosed as commitments in the
notes to the financial statements, and these lease payments were reported as rental
expenses in profit or loss over the lease term on a straight-line basis and presented
under operating activities in the statement of cash flows. Under SFRS(l) 16, the
Group recognises right-of-use assets and lease liabilities in the statement of financial
position for these outstanding lease payments, reports depreciation of right-of-use
assets and interest expense on lease liabilities in profit or loss, and presents these
lease payments as principal repayment and interest paid separately under financing
activities in the statement of cash flows.

YAMADA GREEN RESOURCES LIMITED
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NOTES TO
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 30 June 2020

2(b) Adoption of new and revised SFRS(l) effective for the current financial year

(Cont'd)

SFRS(I) 16 Leases (Cont'd)

(b)  Lessee accounting (Cont’d)

(i)

Former operating leases (Cont'd)

Under SFRS(I) 16, lease incentives are recognised as part of the measurement of the
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities whereas under SFRS(1)1-17, they resulted in the
recognition of a lease incentive liability, amortised as a reduction of rental expenses on
a straight-line basis.

The Group has elected, as a practical expedient of SFRS(I) 16, not to separate non-lease
components from lease components for all classes of underlying assets and instead
account for each lease component and any associated non-lease components as a
single lease component, except if the non-lease component is an embedded derivative
according to SFRS(I) 9.

For short-term leases and leases of low-value assets, the Group has elected for
exemption under SFRS(I) 16 from recognising their right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities, and to report their lease expenses in profit or loss on a straight-line basis.

On 1 July 2019, the Group has applied the following SFRS(I) 16 transition provisions
under the modified retrospective approach for each lease, or each portfolio of leases
with reasonably similar characteristics, formerly classified as operating lease under
SFRS(I) 1-17:

° recognises a lease liability at the present value of the remaining lease payments
using the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate for the underlying lease asset;

° on a lease-by-lease basis, the Group chooses to measure its right-of-use assets
(“ROU assets”) (except for ROU assets which meet the definition of investment
property) at an amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted by the amount of
any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to that lease recognised in the
statement of financial position immediately before the date of initial application;
and for ROU assets which meet the definition of an investment property, the
Group measures the ROU assets at their fair values at 1 July 2019;

° applies SFRS(I) 1-36 Impairment of Assets to perform an impairment review of
the right-of-use asset; and

° adjusts any difference between the carrying amounts of the right-of-use asset
and the lease liability to the opening balance of retained earnings.

The Group has adopted the following SFRS(I) 16 practical expedients when applying
the modified retrospective approach to leases formerly classified as operating lease
under SFRS(I) 1-17:

° applies a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar
characteristics;
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NOTES TO
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 30 June 2020

2(b) Adoption of new and revised SFRS(l) effective for the current financial year

(Cont'd)

SFRS(I) 16 Leases (Cont'd)

(b)  Lessee accounting (Cont’d)

(i)

(ii)

(ifi)

Former operating leases (Cont'd)

° adjusts the right-of-use asset at the date of initial application by the amount
of provision for onerous leases recognised under SFRS(I) 1-37 Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets in the statement of financial
position immediately before the date of initial application, as an alternative to
performing an impairment review under SFRS(I) 1-36;

° elects not to recognise the right-of-use asset and lease liability for a lease with
lease term ending within twelve months of the date of initial application;

° excludes initial direct costs from the measurement of the right-of-use asset at
the date of initial application; and

° uses hindsight for determining the lease term when the contract contains
options to extend or terminate the lease.

Leasehold building

In prior years, the Group had made an upfront payment for the right-of-use of its
20-year leasehold buildings which were used as factory premises and/or its office
premises and recorded in the Group's property, plant and equipment. Upon transition
to SFRS(I) 16, the Group has elected to present the right-of-use assets separately
from other assets in the statement of financial position and therefore reclassifies this
leasehold building from “property, plant and equipment” to “right-of-use assets” in the
statement of financial position.

Land use rights

In prior years, the Group had made upfront payments for the right-of-use of leasehold
lands with tenures ranging from 41 to 50 years for own use, rental or capital
appreciation and recorded in the Group's land use rights. Upon transition to SFRS(I) 16,
the Group has elected to present the right-of-use assets separately from other assets
in the statement of financial position and therefore reclassifies this land use rights
from “land use rights” to “right-of-use assets” in the statement of financial position,
except for land use rights which meet the definition of investment property.

() Lessor accounting

SFRS(l) 16 has not changed substantially how the Group as lessor accounts for leases,
except when it is the intermediate lessor of sublease. Under SFRS() 16, the Group continues
to classify leases, where it is the lessor, as either finance lease or operating lease and to
account for the two types of leases differently. However, SFRS(l) 16 changes and expands
the disclosures required, in particular, regarding how the Group as lessor manages the risks
arising from its residual interest in leased assets.
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NOTES TO
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 30 June 2020

2(b) Adoption of new and revised SFRS(l) effective for the current financial year
(Cont'd)

SFRS(I) 16 Leases (Cont'd)

(©

Lessor accounting (Cont'd)

Intermediate lessor of sublease

The Group subleases to non-related parties factories and office premises which the Group
leases under a separate head lease arrangement. Prior to the adoption of SFRS(I) 16, the
subleases were classified as an operating lease because the head lease was an operating
lease. Under SFRS(I) 1-17, the Group as intermediate lessor recorded rental income in
respect of the sublease on a straight-line basis over the term of the sublease and recorded
rental expense in respect of the head lease on a straight-line basis over the term of the head
lease.

Under SFRS(I) 16, lessor accounting by the Group as intermediate lessor depends on the
classification of the subleases with reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head
lease rather than the underlying asset. Based on the assessment, sublease periods for these
subleases do not form a major part of the remaining head lease terms and accordingly,
these subleases are classified as operating lease.

Financial impact of initial application of SFRS(I) 16

A reconciliation of the differences between the Group’s operating lease commitments
previously disclosed in the financial statements as at 30 June 2019 and the Group's lease
liabilities recognised in the statement of financial position on 1 July 2019 is as follows:

The Group RMB’000
Operating lease commitments as at 30 June 2019 under SFRS(I) 1-17

in the Group's consolidated financial statements 55
Less: Short-term leases and low value assets exempted from recognition (55)

Lease liabilities recognised as at 1 July 2019 -

The effects of adoption of SFRS(I) 16 on the Group’s consolidated financial statements as at 1
July 2019 are as follows:

Increase/

(Decrease)
The Group Note RMB’000
Non-Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment 4 (62,162)
Right-of-use assets 79,311
Land use rights (18,618)
Investment properties 1,469
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NOTES TO
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 30 June 2020

2(b)

2(c)

2(d)

Adoption of new and revised SFRS(I) effective for the current financial year
(Cont'd)

SFRS(I) 16 Leases (Cont'd)

(e) Deferred tax impact from adoption of SFRS(I) 16

In the jurisdictions that the Group operates in, tax deductions are received in respect
of the right-of-use asset (i.e. depreciation allowance) and the lease liability (i.e. deduction
for finance cost) in a manner consistent with the accounting treatment, and there is no
difference between the accounting and tax depreciation rates, no temporary differences
arise from recognition of the right-of-use asset and lease liability.

New and revised SFRS(]) in issue but not yet effective
Below are the mandatory standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that

have been published, and are relevant for the Group’'s and the Company’s accounting periods
beginning on or after 1 July 2020 and which the Group and the Company have not early adopted:

Effective date
(Annual periods

Reference Description beginning on or after)

Various Amendments to References to the 1 January 2020
Conceptual Framework in SFRS(1)

SFRS(I) 1-1, SFRS(I) 1-8 Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-1 and SFRS(I) 1 January 2020

1-8: Definition of Material

The directors do not anticipate that the adoption of the above SFRS(l)s in the future periods will
have a material impact on the financial statements of the Group in the period of their initial
adoption.

Significant judgements and accounting estimates
Significant judgements and accounting estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with SFRS(I) requires the
use of judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the financial year. Although
these estimates are based on management's best knowledge of current events and actions, actual
results may differ from those estimates.

The critical accounting estimates and assumptions used and areas involving a high degree of
judgement are described below.
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NOTES TO
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 30 June 2020

2(d) Significant judgements and accounting estimates (Cont’'d)
Significant judgements in applying accounting policies
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following
judgements, apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the

amount recognised in the financial statements:

Determination of functional currency

The Group measures foreign currency transactions in the respective functional currencies of the
Company and its subsidiaries. In determining the functional currencies of the respective entities
in the Group, judgement is required to determine the currency that mainly influences sales
prices of goods and services and of the country whose competitive forces and regulations mainly
determines the sales prices of its goods and services. The functional currencies of the entities
in the Group are determined based on the local management’s assessment of the economic
environment in which the entities operate and the respective entities’ process of determining sales
prices.

Revenue - Principal or agent

The Group assesses whether the Group acts as a principal or an agent. To determine whether
the Group acts as a principal, the Group considers the nature of its promise is a performance
obligation to provide the specified goods or services itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to
arrange for those goods or services to be provided by the other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).
The Group has determined, based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the sales
arrangements, that the Group acts as a principal and accordingly, accounts the revenue as gross
presentation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Classification of property

The Group determines whether a property is classified as investment property or owner-occupied
property as follows:

° Investment properties comprise leasehold buildings and land use rights which are not
occupied substantially for use by, or in the operations of, the Group, nor for sale in
the ordinary course of business, but are held primarily to earn rental income and capital
appreciation.

° Owner-occupied property is property that is used by the Group in the production or supply
of goods or services or for administrative purposes.

When differentiating between owner-occupied property or investment property, some properties
comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation and another portion that
is held for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes. If
these portions could be sold separately or leased out separately under finance lease, the Group
accounts for the portions separately. If the portions could not be sold separately, the property is
an investment property only if an insignificant portion is held for use in the production or supply
of goods or services or for administrative purposes. Judgement is made on an individual property
basis to determine whether ancillary services are so significant that a property does not qualify as
an investment property.
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NOTES TO
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the financial year ended 30 June 2020

2(d) Significant judgements and accounting estimates (Cont’'d)

Significant judgements in applying accounting policies (Cont'd)

Income tax (Notes 12 and 27)

The Group has exposures to income taxes in the jurisdictions in which it operates. Significant
judgement is involved in determining the group-wide provision for income taxes. There are certain
transactions and computations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. The Group recognises liabilities for expected tax issues based on
estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is
different from the amounts that were initially recognised, such differences will impact the income
tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made. The accounting
policies used by the Company and by the Group have been applied consistently to all periods
presented in these financial statements.

Critical accounting estimates and key sources of estimation uncertainty

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets (Notes 4 and 5)

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets (“ROU assets”) are depreciated on a straight-
line basis over their estimated useful lives. Management estimates the useful lives of property,
plant and equipment and ROU assets to be within 3 to 20 years. The carrying amounts of the
Company's and the Group's property, plant and equipment and ROU assets as at 30 June 2020 are
disclosed in Notes 4 and 5 respectively. Changes in the expected level of usage and technological
developments could impact the economic useful lives and the residual values of these assets,
therefore future depreciation charges could be revised.

If the actual useful lives of the Company's and the Group's property, plant and equipment differ
by 10% from the management's estimates, the carrying amount of the Company's and the Group's
property, plant and equipment will be approximately RMB Nil (2019 - RMB 12,000) and RMB 19,000
(2019 - RMB 488,000) lower respectively and RMB Nil (2019 - RMB 10,000) and RMB 16,000 (2019 -
RMB 399,000) higher respectively.

If the actual useful lives of the Group’s ROU assets differ by 10% from the management's
estimates, the carrying amount of the Group’s ROU assets will be approximately RMB 55,000 lower
respectively and RMB 45,000 higher respectively.

Amortisation of land use rights (Note 6)

Land use rights are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The Group
has been granted rights of use of land of 41 to 50 years. The carrying amount of the Group's land
use rights as at 30 June 2019 is RMB 18,618,000. Changes in the expected level of usage could
impact the economic useful lives of land use rights, therefore future amortisation charges could be
revised.

In 2019, if the actual useful lives of land use rights differed by 10% from the management's
estimates, the carrying amount of the Group’s land use rights would be approximately RMB 60,000
lower and RMB 49,000 higher.
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2(d) Significant judgements and accounting estimates (Cont’'d)
Critical accounting estimates and key sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont’d)

Valuation of right-of-use assets and investment properties (Notes 5 and 8)

The Group’s ROU assets and investment properties are stated at estimated fair value based on
the valuation performed by independent professional valuers. The determination of the fair value
of ROU assets and investment properties requires the use of historical transaction comparables
and estimates such as future cash flows from assets (market rental rates), capitalisation rates and
vacancy rates applicable to those assets. There are also higher levels of estimation uncertainty
and judgement required due to the changes in market and economic conditions arising from the
COVID-19 pandemic. The carrying amount of ROU assets and investment properties is disclosed in
Notes 5 and 8 to the financial statements.

If the market value used to estimate the fair value of the ROU assets and investment properties
decreases/increases by 5% from management's estimates, the Group'’s profit/loss for the year will
increase/decrease by RMB 2,411,900 and RMB 11,546,000 (2019 - RMB 9,035,000) respectively.

Impairment of investments in subsidiaries (Note 9)

Determining whether investments in subsidiaries is impaired requires an estimation to the
recoverable amounts of the investments in subsidiaries. The recoverable amounts of the
investments in subsidiaries are estimated based on net asset value of the subsidiary having regard
to the fair value of the investment properties held by its subsidiaries. Management has evaluated
the recoverability of the investment based on such estimates.

A 5% decrease in net asset value of the subsidiary will not lead to impairment loss on the
Company's investment in subsidiary.

Withholding tax on undistributed profits (Note 12)

According to the New Corporate Income Tax Law (“CIT") and the Detailed Implementation
Regulations, dividends distributed to the foreign investor by Foreign Invested Enterprises (“FIE") in
the PRC, would be subject to withholding tax of 10% (5% for countries including Singapore which
have entered into respective bilateral treaties with the PRC). The FIE's profits, arising in the financial
year 2008 and beyond, to be distributed to the foreign investors as dividends shall be subject to
withholding tax.

The management has considered the above tax exposure and has provided for deferred tax
liability as at 30 June 2020 based on the assumption that the FIE will, in the foreseeable future,
declare dividend payments to the Company and there will be withholding tax on dividends to be
distributed out of the accumulated profits.

The carrying amount of the Group’s deferred tax liability on undistributed profits as at 30 June
2020 was approximately RMB 3,711,000 (2019 - RMB 3,711,000).
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2(d) Significant judgements and accounting estimates (Cont’'d)

Critical accounting estimates and key sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont’d)

Allowance for expected credit losses (“ECL") on trade and other receivables (Note 14)

Allowance for ECL of trade and other receivables and contract assets are based on assumptions
about risk of default and expected loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the ECL calculation, based on the Group's past collection
history, existing market conditions as well as forward looking estimates at each reporting date.
Probability of default constitutes a key input in measuring ECL. Probability of default is an estimate
of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon, the calculation of which includes historical
data, assumptions and expectations of future conditions.

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECL for trade receivables. The provision rates
are based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss
patterns. The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical observed default rates.
The Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust historical credit loss experience with forward-looking
information. The assessment of the correlation between historical observed default rates, forecast
economic conditions and ECL is a significant estimate. The amount of ECL is sensitive to changes in
circumstances and forecast economic conditions.

The Group and the Company apply the 3-stage general approach to determine ECL for non-trade
amounts due from external parties and related parties. ECL is measured as an allowance equal
to 12-month ECL for stage-1 assets, or lifetime ECL for stage-2 or stage-3 assets. An asset moves
from stage-1 to stage-2 when its credit risk increases significantly and subsequently to stage-3 as
it becomes credit-impaired. In assessing whether credit risk has significantly increased, the Group
and the Company consider qualitative and quantitative reasonable and supportable forward-
looking information. Lifetime ECL represents ECL that will result from all possible default events
over the expected life of a financial instrument whereas 12-month ECL represents the portion
of lifetime ECL expected to result from default events possible within twelve months after the
reporting date.

The carrying amount of the Group’s and the Company's trade and other receivables are disclosed
in Note 14. A decrease of 10% in the estimated future cash inflows will not lead to further
allowance for impairment on the Group's and the Company’s trade and other receivables.

Significant accounting policies
Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries as at the end of the reporting period. The financial statements of the subsidiaries used
in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are prepared for the same reporting
date as the Company. Consistent accounting policies are applied to like transactions and events in
similar circumstances.

All intra-group balances, incomes and expenses and unrealised gains and losses resulting from
intra-group transactions and dividends are eliminated in full.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group
obtains control and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.
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Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)
Consolidation (Cont'd)

Losses and other comprehensive losses are attributable to the non-controlling interest even if that
results in a deficit balance.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction. If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it:

- derecognises the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary at their carrying
amounts as at that date when control is lost;

- derecognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest;

- derecognises the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;
- recognises the fair value of the consideration received;

- recognises the fair value of any investment retained;

- recognises any surplus or deficit in profit or loss; and

- reclassifies the Group's share of components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income to profit or loss or retained earnings, as appropriate.

A subsidiary is an investee that is controlled by the Group. The Group controls an investee when
it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee.

Thus, the Group controls an investee, if and only if, the Group has all of the following:

- power over the investee;

- exposure, or rights or variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

the ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate
that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power over the
investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee unilaterally. The Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether or not the Group's voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power,
including:

- the size of the Group's holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings
of the other vote holders;

- potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote holders or other parties;

- rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
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For the financial year ended 30 June 2020

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)
Consolidation (Cont'd)
- any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Group has, or does not have,

the current ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made,
including voting patterns at previous shareholders’ meetings.

Acquisitions
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are, with limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition
date.

On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group recognises any non-controlling interest
in the acquiree at the date of acquisition either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

The excess of (a) the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the
(b) fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.

A change in the ownership interest

A change in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that does not result in the Group
losing control over the subsidiaries is accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts
of the Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in
their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the
non-controlling interests is adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is
recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

Disposals

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and
is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the
assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interest. All
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary
are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of
the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as
specified/permitted by applicable SFRS(1)).

The fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when the control is
lost is regarded as the fair value on the initial recognition for subsequent accounting under FRS 39,
when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint venture.

Transactions with non-controlling interest

Non-controlling interest represents the equity in subsidiaries not attributable, directly or indirectly,
to owners of the Company, and are presented separately in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income and within equity in the consolidated statement of financial position,
separately from equity attributable to owners of the Company.
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Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost or valuation less accumulated depreciation and

accumulated impairment losses, if any. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method to
allocate the depreciable amount of the assets over the estimated useful lives as follows:

Leasehold buildings 20 years
Motor vehicles 10 years
Office equipment 5 years
Plant and machinery 10 years
Fixtures and fittings 5to 10 years
Farm equipment and fixtures 3 to 5 years

No depreciation has been provided for construction-in-progress.

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items. Dismantlement, removal or restoration costs are included as part of the
cost of property, plant and equipment if the obligation for dismantlement, removal or restoration
is incurred as a consequence of acquiring or using the asset. Cost may also include transfers
from equity of any gains/losses on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency purchases of
property, plant and equipment.

Subsequent expenditure relating to property, plant and equipment that have been recognised is
added to the carrying amount of the asset when it is probable that future economic benefits, in
excess of the standard of performance of the asset before the expenditure was made, will flow to
the Group and the cost can be reliably measured. Other subsequent expenditure is recognised as
an expense during the financial year in which it is incurred.

For acquisitions and disposals during the financial year, depreciation is provided from the month
of acquisition and to the month before disposal respectively. Fully depreciated property, plant and
equipment, if any, are retained in the books of accounts until they are no longer in use.

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate
at each reporting date as a change in estimates to ensure that the method and period of
depreciation are consistent with previous estimates and the expected pattern of consumption of
the future economic benefits embodied in the items of property, plant and equipment.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on derecognition of the
asset is included in profit or loss in the financial period the asset is derecognised.

Leasehold properties are initially recognised at cost and subsequently stated at their revalued
amounts. The revalued amount is the fair value at the date of revaluation less any subsequent
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Revaluations are carried out by independent
professional valuers regularly such that the carrying amount of these assets does not differ
materially from that which would be determined using fair values at the end of reporting period.
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Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

When an asset is revalued, any increase in the carrying amount is credited directly to revaluation
surplus unless it reverses a previous revaluation decrease relating to the same asset which was
previously recognised as an expense. In these circumstances the increase is recognised as income
to the extent of the previous write down.

When an asset's carrying amount is decreased as a result of a revaluation, the decrease is
recognised as an expense unless it reverses a previous increment relating to that asset, in which
case it is charged against any related revaluation surplus, to the extent that the decrease does
not exceed the amount held in the revaluation surplus in respect of that same asset. Any balance
remaining in the revaluation surplus in respect of an asset, is transferred directly to retained
earnings when the asset is de-recognised.

Land use rights

Land use rights are initially measured at cost. Following initial recognition, land use rights are
measured at cost less accumulated amortisation. The land use rights are amortised on a straight-
line basis over the lease term of 41 to 50 years.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets are accounted for using the cost model. Capitalised costs are amortised on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives for those considered as finite useful lives.
After initial recognition, they are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any. In addition, they are subject to annual impairment testing, if there are
any indicators of impairment. Indefinite life intangibles are not amortised but are subject to annual
impairment testing.

Intangible assets are written off where, in the opinion of the Directors, no further future economic
benefits are expected to arise.

Computer software

Costs relating to computer software acquired, which are not an integral part of related hardware,
are capitalised and amortised on a straight-line basis over their useful life of 5 years.

Government grant/subsidy

Government grant/subsidy is recognised at its fair value where there is reasonable assurance
that the grant/subsidy will be received and all attaching conditions will be complied with. Where
the grant/subsidy relates to an asset, the fair value is recognised as deferred capital grant on the
consolidated statement of financial position and is amortised to profit or loss over the expected
useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments.

Investment properties

Investment properties include those portions of buildings that are held for long term rental yields
and/or for capital appreciation and land under operating leases that are held for long-term capital
appreciation or for a currently indeterminate use, and where an insignificant portion is held for the
Group’s own occupation.

Investment properties are initially recognised at cost and subsequently carried at fair value,
determined annually by independent professional valuers on the highest and best use basis.
Changes in fair values are recognised in the profit or loss.
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Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)
Investment properties (Cont’'d)

Investment properties are subject to renovations or improvements at regular intervals. The cost of
major renovations and improvements is capitalised as addition and the carrying amounts of the
replaced components are written off to profit or loss. The cost of maintenance, repairs and minor
improvement is charged to profit or loss when incurred.

Investment properties are derecognised when either they have been disposed of or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is
expected from its disposal. On disposal or retirement of an investment property, the difference
between any disposal proceeds and the carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss.

Transfers are made to investment property when, and only when, there is a change in use,
evidenced by ending of owner-occupation or commencement of an operating lease to another
party. Transfers are made from investment property when, and only when, there is a change in
use, evidenced by the commencement of owner-occupation or commencement of development
with a view to sell.

Investments in subsidiaries

In the Company's separate financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
allowance for any impairment losses on an individual subsidiary basis.

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control of those policies.

The Group accounts for its investments in associates using the equity method from the date on
which it becomes an associate. Investment in associates at company level are stated at cost.

On acquisition of the investment, any excess of the cost of the investment over the Group's share
of the net fair value of the investee's identifiable assets and liabilities is accounted as goodwill
and is included in the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the
net fair value of the investee’s identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment is
included as income in the determination of the entity’'s share of the associate’s profit or loss in the
period in which the investment is acquired.

Under the equity method, the investment in associates are carried in the balance sheet at cost plus
post-acquisition changes in the Group's share of net assets of the associates. The profit or loss
reflects the share of results of operations of the associates. Distributions received from associates
reduce the carrying amount of the investment. Where there has been a change recognised in other
comprehensive income by the associates, the Group recognises its share of such changes in other
comprehensive income. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transaction between the Group
and the associate are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the associates.

When the Group's share of losses in an associate equal or exceeds its interest in the associate, the
Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate.
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Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)
Investments in associates (Cont'd)

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise
an additional impairment loss, on the Group’s investment in associate. The Group determines at
the end of each reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that the investment in
the associate is impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the
difference between the recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value and recognises
the amount in profit or loss.

The financial statements of the associates are prepared as of the same reporting date as the
Group unless it is impracticable to do so. When the financial statements of an associate used
in applying the equity method are prepared as of a different reporting date from that of the
Group (not more than three months apart), adjustments are made for the effects of significant
transactions or events that occur between that date and the reporting date of the Group.

Upon loss of significant influence or joint control over the associate, the Group measures the
retained interest at fair value. Any difference between the fair value of the aggregate of the
retained interest and proceeds from disposal and the carrying amount of the investment at the
date the equity method was discontinued is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
relation to that associate on the same basis as would have been required if that associate or joint
venture had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on a
weighted-average basis and includes all costs in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition. In the case of manufactured products, cost includes all direct expenditure and
production overheads based on the normal level of activity.

Provision is made for obsolete, slow-moving and defective inventories in arriving at the net
realisable value.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less estimated
costs necessary to make the sale.

Financial assets

Classification and measurement

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:
° Amortised cost;

° Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI); and

° Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL).

The classification depends on the Group's business model for managing the financial assets as well
as the contractual terms of the cash flows of the financial asset.
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Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)
Financial assets (Cont'd)
Classification and measurement (Cont’d)

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payment of principal and interest.

The Group reclassifies debt instruments when and only when its business model for managing
those assets changes.

At initial recognition

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case
of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at
fair value through profit or loss are expensed in profit or loss.

At subsequent measurement

() Debt instruments

Debt instruments mainly comprise of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables
and amount due from subsidiaries.

There are three subsequent measurement categories, depending on the Group’s business
model for managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset:

° Amortised cost: Debt instruments that are held for collection of contractual cash
flows where those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest are
measured at amortised cost. A gain or loss on a debt instrument that is subsequently
measured at amortised cost and is not part of a hedging relationship is recognised in
profit or loss when the asset is derecognised or impaired. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in interest income using the effective interest rate method.

° FVOCI: Debt instruments that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and
for sale, and where the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal and
interest, are classified as FVOCI. Movements in fair values are recognised in Other
Comprehensive Income (“OCI") and accumulated in fair value reserve, except for the
recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest income and foreign exchange
gains and losses, which are recognised in profit or loss. When the financial asset is
derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in OCl is reclassified
from equity to profit or loss and presented in “other operating income or other
expense”. Interest income from these financial assets is recognised using the effective
interest rate method and presented in “other operating income”.

° FVTPL: Debt instruments that are held for trading as well as those that do not meet the
criteria for classification as amortised cost or FVOCI are classified as FVTPL. Movement
in fair values and interest income is recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it
arises and presented in “other operating income and other expense”.
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3 Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)
Financial assets (Cont'd)
Classification and measurement (Cont’d)

At subsequent measurement (Cont'd)

(i) Equity investments

The Group subsequently measures all its equity investments at their fair values. Equity
investments are classified as FVTPL with movements in their fair values recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which the changes arise and presented in “other operating
income or other expense”, except for those equity securities which are not held for trading.
The Group has elected to recognise changes in fair value of equity securities not held for
trading in other comprehensive income as these are strategic investments and the Group
considers this to be more relevant. Movements in fair values of investments classified as
FVOCI are presented as “fair value gains / losses” in OCl. Dividends from equity investments
are presented in profit or loss as “other operating income”.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (“ECLs") for all debt instruments not
held at fair value through profit or loss and financial guarantee contracts. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective
interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or
other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next 12-months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit
exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
a loss allowance is recognised for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure,
irrespective of timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

For trade receivables, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Therefore, the
Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on
lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on
its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and
the economic environment.

For debt instruments at FVOCI, the Group applies the low credit risk simplification. At every
reporting date, the Group evaluates whether the debt instrument is considered to have low
credit risk using all reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost
or effort. In making that evaluation, the Group reassesses the internal credit rating of the debt
instrument. In addition, the Group considers that there has been a significant increase in credit risk
when the contractual payments are more than days past due.

The Group consider a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 90 days past due.
However, in certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when
internal or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the
Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the
contractual cash flows.
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Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)
Financial assets (Cont'd)
Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade date - the date on
which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets
have expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all risks and
rewards of ownership.

On disposal of a debt instrument, the difference between the carrying amount and the sale
proceeds is recognised in profit or loss. Any amount previously recognised in other comprehensive
income relating to that asset is reclassified to profit or loss.

On disposal of an equity investment, the difference between the carrying amount and sales
proceed is recognised in profit or loss if there was no election made to recognise fair value
changes in other comprehensive income. If there was an election made, any difference between
the carrying amount and sales proceed amount would be recognised in other comprehensive
income and transferred to retained profits along with the amount previously recognised in other
comprehensive income relating to that asset.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and bank deposits which are readily convertible
to cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Assets and liabilities classified as held for sale

Non-current assets, or disposal groups (“Disposal Group”) comprising assets and liabilities, that are
expected to be recovered primarily through sale rather than through continuing use, are classified
as held for sale. Immediately before classification as held for sale, the assets, or components of
a disposal group, are remeasured in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies. Thereafter
generally the assets, or disposal group, are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and
fair value less cost to sell. Any impairment loss on a disposal group is first allocated to goodwill,
and then to remaining assets and liabilities on a pro rata basis, except that no loss is allocated
to consumable stocks, financial assets and deferred tax assets which continue to be measured in
accordance with the Group's accounting policies. Impairment losses on initial classification as held
for sale and subsequent gains or losses on remeasurement are recognised in profit or loss. Gains
are not recognised in excess of any cumulative impairment loss. Property, plant and equipment
once classified as held for sale are not depreciated. Investments in associates which classified in
held for sale are no longer equity accounted for.

If the criteria to classify as held for sale are no longer met, the assets, or disposal group, are
remeasured at the lower of the carrying amount before the classification as held for sale, adjusted
for any depreciation, amortisation or revaluations that would have been recognised had the assets
or disposal group not been classified as held for sale, and the recoverable amount at the date of
the subsequent decision not to sell.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of
new ordinary shares are deducted against the share capital account.
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Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)
Financial liabilities

The Company's and the Group's financial liabilities include bank borrowings, trade and other
payables and related party balances.

Financial liabilities are recognised when the Company or the Group becomes a party to the
contractual agreements of the instrument. The Group determines the classification of its financial
liabilities at initial recognition.

All interest-related charges are recognised as an expense in “Finance costs” in the statement of
comprehensive income. Financial liabilities are derecognised if the Company’s or the Group's
obligations specified in the contract expire or are discharged or cancelled.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statements
of financial position when, and only when, the Company or the Group currently has a legally
enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis, or
to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as
through the amortisation process.

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value of proceeds received less attributable transaction
costs, if any. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost which is the initial fair value
less any principal repayments. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs)
and the redemption value is taken to the profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using
the effective interest method. The interest expense is chargeable on the amortised cost over the
period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings which are due to be settled within twelve months after the end of the reporting
period are included in current borrowings in the statements of financial position even though the
original terms were for a period longer than twelve months and an agreement to refinance, or to
reschedule payments, on a long-term basis is completed after the end of the reporting period.
Borrowings to be settled within the Group’s normal operating cycle are considered as current.
Other borrowings due to be settled more than twelve months after the end of the reporting period
are included in non-current borrowings in the statements of financial position.

Trade and other payables are initially measured at fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Dividend distributions to shareholders are included in current financial liabilities when the
dividends are declared and payable.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Company and the Group have a present obligation (legal or
constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of
the amount of the obligation. Present obligations arising from onerous contracts are recognised as
provisions.
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For the financial year ended 30 June 2020

Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)
Provisions (Cont’d)

The Group recognises the estimated costs of dismantlement, removal or restoration of items
of property, plant and equipment arising from the acquisition or use of assets. This provision is
estimated based on the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation, taking
into consideration time value.

Changes in the estimated timing or amount of the expenditure or discount rate for asset
dismantlement, removal and restoration costs are adjusted against the cost of the related
property, plant and equipment, unless the decrease in the liability exceeds the carrying amount
of the asset or the asset has reached the end of its useful life. In such cases, the excess of the
decrease over the carrying amount of the asset or the changes in the liability is recognised in
consolidated income statement immediately.

Dividends

Final dividends proposed by the directors are not accounted for in shareholders’ equity as an
appropriation of retained profits, until they have been approved by the shareholders in a general
meeting. When these dividends have been approved by the shareholders and declared, they are
recognised as a liability.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because of the articles of association
of the Company grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently,
interim dividends are recognised directly as a liability when they are proposed and declared.
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised in the profit or loss in the period they are incurred.

Leases

The accounting policy for leases before 1 July 2019 is as follows:

(i) Where the Group is the lessee,

Operating leases

Rentals on operating leases are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the lease term. Lease incentives, if any, are recognised as an integral part of the net
consideration agreed for the use of the leased asset. Penalty payments on early termination,
if any, are recognised in the profit or loss when incurred.

Contingent rents are mainly determined as a percentage of revenue in excess of a specified
amount during the month. They are charged to the profit or loss when incurred.

(i)  Where the Group is the lessor,

Operating leases

Assets leased out under operating leases are included in investment properties and are
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Rental income (net of
any incentives given to the lessees) is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

YAMADA GREEN RESOURCES LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2020




QA

NOTES TO
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3 Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Leases (Cont'd)

The accounting policy for leases from 1 July 2019 is as follows:

(i) Where the Group is the lessee:

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract.
The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect
to all lease arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as
leases with a lease term of twelve months or less) and leases of low value assets. For these
leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line
basis over the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of
the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed.

Lease liabilities

The initial measurement of lease liability is measured at the present value of the
lease payments discounted using the implicit rate in the lease, if the rate can be
readily determined. If that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group shall use its
incremental borrowing rate. Lease payments include the following;:

- Fixed payment (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives
receivables;

- Variable lease payment that are based on an index or rate, initially measured
using the index or rate as at the commencement date;

- Amount expected to be payable under residual value guarantees;

- The exercise price of a purchase option if is reasonably certain to exercise the
option; and

- Payment of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the
Group exercising that option.

For contract that contain both lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration to each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone
price of the lease and non-lease component. The Group has elected to not separate
lease and non-lease component for property leases and account these as one single
lease component.

The lease liability is subsequently measured at amortised cost, by increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using the effective interest
method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.

The Group remeasures the lease liability (with a corresponding adjustment to the
related right-of-use asset or to profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use
asset has already been reduced to nil) whenever:

- the lease term has changed or there is a significant event or change in
circumstances resulting in a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase
option, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate;
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Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Leases (Cont'd)

The accounting policy for leases from 1 July 2019 is as follows (Cont'd):
(i) Where the Group is the lessee (Cont'd):

° Lease liabilities (Cont'd)

- the lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in
expected payment under a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease
liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate (unless the lease payments change is due to a change in a floating
interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used); or

- a lease contract is modified, and the lease modification is not accounted for as a
separate lease, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the
modification.

° Right-of-use assets

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and lease liability at the date which the
underlying asset is available for use. Right-of use assets are measured at cost which
comprises the initial measurement of lease liabilities adjusted for any lease payments
made at or before the commencement date and lease incentive received. Any initial
direct costs that would not have been incurred if the lease had not been obtained are
added to the carrying amount of the right-of-use assets.

These right-of-use assets is subsequently stated at their revalued amounts. The
revalued amount is the fair value at the date of revaluation less any subsequent
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Revaluations are carried out by
independent professional valuers regularly such that the carrying amount of these
assets does not differ materially from that which would be determined using fair
values at the end of reporting period.

When an asset is revalued, any increase in the carrying amount is credited directly to
revaluation surplus unless it reverses a previous revaluation decrease relating to the
same asset which was previously recognised as an expense. In these circumstances
the increase is recognised as income to the extent of the previous write down.

When an asset's carrying amount is decreased as a result of a revaluation, the
decrease is recognised as an expense unless it reverses a previous increment relating
to that asset, in which case it is charged against any related revaluation surplus, to
the extent that the decrease does not exceed the amount held in the revaluation
surplus in respect of that same asset. Any balance remaining in the revaluation surplus
in respect of an asset, is transferred directly to retained earnings when the asset is
de-recognised. The right-of-use assets (except for those which meet the definition of
investment property) are presented separate line item in the statement of financial
position.
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3 Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

Leases (Cont'd)

The accounting policy for leases from 1 July 2019 is as follows (Cont'd):

(i)

Where the Group is the lessee (Cont'd):

° Short term and low value leases

The Group has elected to not recognises right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for
short-term leases that have lease terms of 12 months or less and leases of low value
leases, except for sublease arrangements. Lease payments relating to these leases are
expensed to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

° Variable lease payments

Variable lease payments that are not based on an index or a rate are not included as
part of the measurement and initial recognition of the lease liability. The Group shall
recognise those lease payments in profit or loss in the periods that triggered those
lease payments.

Where the Group is the lessor:

Generally, the accounting policies applicable to the Group as a lessor in the comparative
period were not different from SFRS(I) 16, except for the classification of the sublease
entered into that resulted in a finance lease classification.

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether each lease is a
finance lease or an operating lease.

To classify each lease, the Group makes an overall assessment of whether the lease transfers
substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset. If
this is the case, then the lease is a finance lease; if not, then it is an operating lease. As part
of this assessment, the Group considers certain indicators such as whether the lease is for
the major part of the economic life of the asset.

At inception or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of their
relative stand-alone prices. If an arrangement contains lease and non-lease components,
then the Group applies SFRS(I) 15 to allocate the consideration in the contract.

The Group applies the derecognition and impairment requirements in SFRS(l) 9 to the
net investment in the lease. The Group further regularly reviews estimated unguaranteed
residual values used in calculating the gross investment in the lease.

The Group recognises lease payments received from equipment under operating leases as
income on a straight-line basis over the lease term within “Revenue from rental income from
investment properties” in profit or loss.
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Significant accounting policies (Cont'd)
Leases (Cont'd)
The accounting policy for leases from 1 July 2019 is as follows (Cont'd):
(i)  Where the Group is the lessor (Cont'd):
Intermediate lessor in sublease

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for its interests in the head lease and
the sublease separately. It assesses the lease classification of a sublease with reference to
the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease, not with reference to the underlying asset.
If a head lease is a short-term lease to which the Group applies the recognition exemption,
then it classifies the sublease as an operating lease.

When the sublease is assessed as a finance lease, the Group derecognises the right-of-
use asset relating to the head lease that it transfers to the sublessee and recognised the
net investment in the sublease within “finance lease receivables” in the statement of
financial position. Any differences between the right-of-use asset derecognised and the net
investment in sublease is recognised in profit or loss. Lease liability relating to the head lease
is retained in the statement of financial position, which represents the lease payments owed
to the head lessor.

Income taxes
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit
as reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and
it further excludes items that are not taxable or tax deductible. The Group's liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted in
countries where the Company and subsidiaries operate by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on the differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised on taxable temporary differences arising on investments
in subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that
it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed as at each reporting date and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’'d)
Income taxes (Cont'd)

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability
is settled or the asset realised based on the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. Except for investment properties
measured using the fair value model, the measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at
the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model the carrying amounts of such properties
are presumed to be recovered through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted. The presumption
is rebutted when the investment property is depreciable and is held within a business model
of the Group whose business objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment property over time, rather than through sale. The Group has rebutted
the presumption that the carrying amount of the investment properties will be recovered through
use.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a
net basis.

Current and deferred tax are recognised as an expense or income in profit or loss, except when
they relate to items credited or debited outside profit or loss (either in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity), in which case the tax is also recognised outside profit or loss (either in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively), or where they arise from the initial
accounting for a business combination. In the case of a business combination, the tax effect is
taken into account in calculating goodwill or determining the excess of the acquirer’s interest in the
net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over cost.

Value-added tax

The Group's sales of goods in the PRC are subjected to Value-added tax (“VAT") at the applicable

tax rate of 13% for PRC domestic sales. Input VAT on purchases can be deducted from output VAT

subject to agreement by the tax authority. The Group’s export sales are not subject to VAT.

Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of VAT except:

° Where the VAT incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the
taxation authority, in which case the VAT is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of
the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; and

) Receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of VAT included.

The net amount of VAT recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part
of “other receivables” or “other payables” in the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’'d)
Employee benefits

Defined contribution schemes

The Company and the Group participate in the defined contribution national pension schemes as
provided by the laws of the countries in which they have operations. In particular, the Singapore
incorporated company in the Group contributes to the Central Provident Fund, a defined
contribution plan regulated and managed by the Government of Singapore. The subsidiaries in
the PRC are required to provide certain staff pension benefits to their employees under existing
PRC regulations. The contributions to national pension schemes are charged to profit or loss in the
period as incurred to which the contributions relate.

Employee leave entitlements

No provision has been made for employee leave entitlements as any unconsumed annual leave
will be forfeited.

Employee share option scheme (“ESOS Scheme”)

The Company has existing share incentives schemes, namely, Yamada Green Resources Employee
Share Option Scheme and Yamada Green Resources Performance Share Plan. No share options
have been issued during the financial years ended 30 June 2019 and 30 June 2020.

The Company issues equity-settled share-based payments to certain employees. The fair value of
the employee services received in exchange for the grant of options is recognised as an expense
in profit or loss with a corresponding increase in the share option reserve over the vesting period.
The total amount to be recognised over the vesting period is determined by reference to the fair
value of the options granted on the date of the grant. Non-market vesting conditions are included
in the estimation of the number of shares under options that are expected to become exercisable
on the vesting date. At the end of each reporting period, the Company revises its estimates of
the number of shares under options that are expected to become exercisable on the vesting date
and recognises the impact of the revision of the estimates in profit or loss, with a corresponding
adjustment to the share option reserve over the remaining vesting period.

When the options are exercised, the proceeds received (net of transaction costs) and the related
balance previously recognised in the share option reserve are credited to the share capital
account, when new ordinary shares are issued, or to the “treasury shares” account, when treasury
shares are re-issued to the employees.

In the Company’'s separate financial statements, the fair value of options granted to employees
of its subsidiaries is recognised as an increase in the cost of the Company’'s investment in
subsidiaries, with a corresponding increase in equity over the vesting period.

Where the terms of an equity-settled transaction award are modified, the minimum expense
recognised is the expense as if the terms had not been modified. If the original terms of the award
are met, an additional expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total fair value
of the share-based payment transaction or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at
the date of modification.

Key management personnel

Key management personnel are those persons having the authority and responsibility for planning,
directing and controlling the activities of the Company and the Group. Directors are considered key
management personnel.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’'d)
Related parties
A related party is defined as follows:

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Company and the Group
if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Company;
(i) has significant influence over the Company; or

(i)  is a member of the key management personnel of the Company or the Group or of a
parent of the Company.

(b)  An entity is related to the Company and the Group if any of the following conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Company are members of the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others);

(i)  one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member);

(iii)  both entities are joint ventures of the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the
Company or an entity related to the Company. If the Company is itself such a plan, the
sponsoring employers are also related to the Company;

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); or

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the reporting entity or to the parent of the reporting entity.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Company's and the Group’s non-financial assets subject to
impairment are reviewed at the end of each reporting period to determine whether there is any
indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the individual asset, then the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs will be identified.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there
are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). As a result, some assets are tested
individually for impairment and some are tested at cash-generating unit level. Goodwill is allocated
to those cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from synergies of the related business
combination and represent the lowest level within the Company at which management controls
the related cash flows.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’'d)
Impairment of non-financial assets (Cont’d)

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's or cash-generating unit's
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of fair
value, reflecting market conditions less costs to sell and value-in-use, based on an internal
discounted cash flow evaluation. All assets are subsequently reassessed for indications that an
impairment loss previously recognised may no longer exist.

Any impairment loss is charged to profit or loss unless it reverses a previous revaluation in which
case it is charged to equity.

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount or when there is an indication that the impairment loss recognised for the
asset no longer exists or decreases.

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined if no impairment loss had been recognised.

A reversal of an impairment loss on a revalued asset is credited directly to equity under the
heading revaluation surplus. However, to the extent that an impairment loss on the same revalued
asset was previously recognised as an expense in profit or loss, a reversal of that impairment loss
is recognised as income in profit or loss.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in
exchange for transferring promised goods or services to a customer, excluding amounts collected
on behalf of third parties.

Revenue is recognised when the Group satisfied a performance obligation (“PO") by transferring
a promised good or service to the customer, which is when the customer obtains control of the
good or service. A PO may be satisfied at a point in time or over time. The amount of revenue
recognised is the amount allocated to the satisfied PO.

Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when the control of the goods has been transferred to the customer,
either over time or at a point in time, depending on the contractual terms specified in the
contract. Revenue excludes goods and services taxes or value-added taxes and is arrived at after
deduction of trade discounts and rebates, if any. No revenue is recognised if there are significant
uncertainties regarding recovery of the consideration due, associated costs or the possible return
of goods.

Revenue is recognised at a point in time when the goods are delivered to the customer or the
customer has taken physical delivery according to the agreed sales term and all criteria for
acceptance have been satisfied.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’'d)
Revenue recognition (Cont'd)

Sale of goods (Cont'd)

Revenue is recognised over time when there is involvement of performance obligations in
contracts with customers. This is generally applicable to the sales whereby the Group is
responsible for the shipping and handling services of the goods. The title of the goods would have
been transferred to the customers at the point of loading based on the predefined International
Commercial Terms (“Incoterm”) specified in the contract with the customer. However, the
performance obligation is satisfied upon the goods are delivered to the customer. In this case, the
amount of the revenue is recognised based on the transaction price allocated to the satisfied PO.
Transaction price is the amount of consideration in the contract to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for transferring the promised goods.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time-apportioned basis using the effective interest method.
Rental income

Rental and related income from investment properties are recognised on a straight-line basis
over the lease term. Lease incentives given to tenants, if any, are recognised as an integral part of
deriving total lease income. Penalty payments on early termination, if any, are recognised when
incurred. Contingent rents are mainly determined as a percentage of tenant’s revenue during
the month. These leases are for terms of one to five years with options to review at market rates
thereafter.

Government grant/subsidy

Cash grant/subsidy received from the government is recognised as income upon receipt.

Refund from termination of leases to plantations

Cash refunds received from termination of unexpired leases to plantations are recognised as
income upon receipt.

Functional currency

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the consolidated financial statements of the Company and of the Group are
measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates
in (“the functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements of the Group are presented in
RMB, which is also the functional currency of the Company.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’'d)
Conversion of foreign currencies

Transactions and balances

Transactions in a currency other than the functional currency (“foreign currency”) are translated
into the functional currency using the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Currency
translation differences from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the closing rates at the end
of the reporting period are recognised in the profit or loss. However, in the consolidated financial
statements, currency translation differences arising from borrowings in foreign currencies and
other currency instruments designated and qualified as net investment hedges and net investment
in foreign operations, are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
currency translation reserve.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings are presented in the profit or loss.
Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis as either other income or other
operating expense depending on whether foreign currency movements are in a net gain or net
loss position. Non-monetary items measured at fair values in foreign